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,MEMORANDUM REGARDING NICOLAE MALAKA

April 30, 1949

Nicolae Malaxa is a former Rumanian industrialist,
presently in the United States. His Rumanian properties
have been confiscated and his Rumanian citizenship has been
revoked by the Rumanian Communist Government. Mr. Malaxa
desires to remain in the United States and to engage here
in the manufacture of products for which his training and
experience as an engineer and industrialist qualify him.
However, Mr. Malaxa entered the United States under a visi-
tor's visa which has expired; and the Rumanian quota under
the immigration laws (which is only 377 per year) will not
be available for years to come in view of the numerous appli-
cations already pending, nor is the quota technically avail-
able to Mr. Malaxa as a person already within the United
States. Accordingly, in order for Mr. Malaxa to be per-
mitted to establish permanent residence in this country,
he must seek relief under the Displaced Persons Act of 1948
or other legislation designed to meet the special situa-
tions of persons who have escaped from behind the Iron
Curtain.

It is the purpose of this memorandum to set forth
facts concerning Mr. Malaxa, his background and activities
and his family and other associations, which may be rele-
vant with respect to his application for permission to estab-
lish permanent residence in this country. Such facts are
set forth more completely and in greater detail herein than
would be appropriate for such purpose but for certain at-
tacks which have been made upon Mr. Malaxa and certain
misstatements which have been made about him resulting from
an old rivalry dating back to a period before the war.
While normally slanderous remarks and malicious misstate-
ments should be ignored, in view of the present status in
this country of Mr. Malaxa (a situation well known to the
persons responsible for the misstatements) it is deemed
necessary in this memorandum to deal at length with such
misstatements and, notwithstanding their obvious falsity
in most cases, to disprove them in the only way possible--
by setting forth in detail the true and correct facts.

This memorandum is supported by the affidavit of
Mr, Malaxa appended hereto, and also attached as Exhibits
are copies of numerous documents, which support or supple-
ment statements made in the memorandum.
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Brief Summary

Mr. Malaxa was born in 1884 in Rumania, which has
;always been his home. His early education was in Rumanian
schools until he entered the Polytechnic Institute in Karls-
ruhe, from which he was graduated in 1912 as an engineer.
He then returned to Rumania and, after a brief period during
which he built a small factory for the processing of vege-
table oils, he entered the employ of the Rumanian State
Railways as an engineer in connection with the maintenance
and repair of rolling stock. Early in 1919 he resigned
from that position and established a locomotive repair shop
of his own. Over the years this enterprise was expanded
from its modest beginnings as a repair shop to become an
industrial enterprise for the construction of locomotives,
Diesel-powered self-propelled trains and other railway
equipment. In 1936 Mr. Malaxa constructed and placed in
operation a plant for the manufacture of seamless steel
tubes, recognized as being one of Europe s e most modern and
efficient seamless steel tube mills. The establishment by
Mr. Malaxa in Rumania of a steel tube industry was accom-
plished by him notwithstanding the opposition of the
European steel tube cartel (which was dominated by the
Germans) and in spite of every effort of the cartel to pre-
vent the accomplishment of his objective, thereby creating
a lasting enmity of the German cartel.

Late in the 1930s Mr. Malaxa further expanded his
industrial operations to include the production of armaments
And munitions, which theretofore had been largely purchased
by Rumania from foreign suppliers, primarily Czechoslovak
producers.

CCO'4

In the course of about twenty years Mr. Malaxa
built up in Rumania an outstanding industrial enterprise.
His plants, photographs of some of which are annexed to
this memorandum, were generally recognized as being highly

' efficient and most modern in all respects. They occupied
over 2,000,000 square feet of floor space under roof and
employed more than 10,000 persons. Of this enterprise,
Mr. Malaxa was the engineer, designer and operator, and to
it (except for his family) he devoted his complete time and
attention. In addition, he had important interests in, or
was a member of the board of directors of, several other
.Rumanian corporations, including Resita, Astra, Copsa-Cukir,.
:Gaz Metan; Ford, Santierele Navale Galatzi and 'Closanil--

Mr. Malaxa has always worked for the creation,
improvement and enlargement of Rumanian industry, believing
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that Rumania can be and should be largely self-sufficient
industrially and that such self-sufficiency was of primary
importance in achieving the Rumanian ambition of becoming
and remaining a free and democratic country. Mr. Malaxa
was not a Politician and did not engage in politics, al-

'though he was a friend and supporter of Juliu Maniu and

(

Ion Mihalache (the leaders of the National Peasant Party)
and, later, of General Radescu. He was a loyal Rumanian
who devoted his energies and skill to the building and
operation of plants and the creation of the industries of
his country, in which endeavors he was singularly successful
and therefore well known in Rumania and, among people in the
iron and steel business, throughout the world. He was not
an internationalist and had no foreign affiliations, although
he endeavored, on several occasions particularly in recent
years, to establish close business relations with leading
American companies.

As a result of a coup d'etat ins pired by the Nazi,
King Carol was deposed and Ion Antonescu came to power in
Rumania late in 1940. Efforts were made to induce Mr.
Malaxa to sell his works to the Germans. He refused, and
was imprisoned on January 23, 1941, the occupation and
barricading of his house (and other neighboring houses)
by the Iron Guard during the insurrection of January, 1941,
being seized upon as a pretext for his imprisonment. (To
becloud the real issue and in typical Nazi fashion, the
Antonescu government set loose a barrage of charges, subse- "-.4.-4
quently investigated and found without basis, that Mr.
Malaya was aiding the rebellious members of the Iron Guard.)
Notwithstanding his imprisonment and threats of dire con-
sequences if he should persist in his refusals, he still
refused. After twenty days of futile efforts, through
threats and otherwise, to induce Mr. Malaxa to "consent" or
otherwise "cooperate" with the government, his factories
were taken over by the Antonescu government and transferred
by it to a new company, "Rogifer", formed for the purpose
and jointly owned by the Rumanian Government and the Hermann
Goering Werke, the latter having the management and control
of actual operations. When the factories had been fully
taken over by the Germans and the formalities of decrees,
contracts, etc., had been completed, Mr. Malaxa, on October
9, 1941, was released. Then began his fight to regain his
factories and to bring about a reversal of their illegal
taking. While the Germans succeeded in "purchasing" parti-
cipations or interests in several important Rumanian enter-
prises, as did the Soviets later, Mr. Malaxa's enterprises
could not be Purchased in whole or in part, and they were
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the only important Rumanian enterprises seized and turned
over to the Germans. Though the Antonescu government was
under Nazi domination, the Rumanian legal forms and
guaranties were still theoretically in effect, and under
Rumanian law the seizure and transfer of Mr. Malaxa's fac-
tories, without his consent or acquiescence, was illegal and
unprecedented. He was theoretically successful in his ef-
forts for recovery of his plants when, on October 9, 1943,
a decree was promulgated dissolving Rogifer and recognizing
Mr. Malaxa's ownership of the stocks of his corporations.
But regaining actual possession and control was a different
matter. It was not until April, 1945, several months after
the Germans were driven out of Rumania and after she had
aligned herself with the Allies, that Mr. Malaxa finally
succeeded in obtaining the actual return to his control of
his factories and resumed their management and operation.

On August 23, 1944, Rumania ceased fighting and
requested an armistice of the Allies. On August 25 she
declared war against Germany. Against no resistance from
the Rumanians, the Russians quickly and ruthlessly occupied
the country. An Armistice Convention "dictated by Moscow"
was signed September 12, 1944, requiring re parations to Russia
of $300,000,000 in "commodities" over a six-year period.
Both before and after the signing of the Armistice Convention
the Russian Army engaged in considerable looting, carrying
off great amounts of merchandise, machinery and movable
equipment. Few, if any, industrial establishments were
spared, in the case of Mr. Malaxa i s plants the products,
machinery and equipment so taken being of a value of more
than one-half million dollars and including almost the entire
contents of a modern engine plant. Plants were looted regard-
less of ownership, American and British owned plants included.
None of the owners of looted property has received any
compensation therefor, nor has the Rumanian Government been
given any credit in respect of looted property against its
obligation to deliver to Russia $300,000,000 value of com-
modities under the Armistice Convention.

In November, 1944, the RuSsians requested the
Rumanian Government to dismantle and deliver to them under
the Armistice Convention the Malaxa tube mills, which were
then still in the possession of the Rumanian Government.
In December, without Mr. Malaxa's consent and despite his
vigorous opoosition, the larger (6-14") tube mill was de-
livered by the Rumanian Government to the U.S.S.R. under
Article 11 of the Armistice Convention and the Rumanian
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'Government was given a credit of $2,460,000 in respect
thereof, a value greatly below its real value. Subse-
quently Mr. Malaxa obtained partial compensation (in lei,
for the most part, notwithstanding the government's under-
taking to pay in foreign excnange) from the Rumanian
Government in conformity with the practices under the
Armistice Convention (articles deliverable to Russia under
the Convention being first purchased by the Rumanian Govern-
ment from Rumanian owners and delivered by the Government
to Russia for the Government's account under the Convention).
Mr. Malaxa subsequently converted into foreign exchange a
large part of the compensation thus paid to him by the
Rumanian Government. Such conversion was effected pursuant to
an arrangement with the Joint Distribution Committee and the
Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society, whereby Mr. Malaxa made lei
available to those organizations for their work in Rumania
against payments to him abroad in Swiss francs and U. S.
Dollars.

Mr. Malaxa had the distinction of being the only
Rumanian industrialist whose works were taken both by the
Germafts and by the Russians.

Immediately prior to the war, Mr. Malaxa endeavored
to effect collaboration with one or more leading American
companies, but the intervention of the war required post-
ponement of those plans. His efforts to interest American
firms in participating in Rumanian industry were resumed as
,soon as the Germans left Rumania and included offers of
participation in his principal companies to several American
corporations. The U. S. Commercial Counselor at Bucharest,
Mr. Emil Kekich, was kept informed of these various proposals
and they and the objectives to be accomplished thereby were
discussed with him frequently.

Still believing that Rumania, with Western sup-
port, could be saved from complete Soviet domination, that
the international cooperation forecast at Yalta would become
a reality, and that, in the meantime, a modus vivendi with
the Russians might be worked out, Mr. Malaxa departed for
the United States in June 1946 as a member of a Rumanian
economic mission. With appropriate clearance from the
Department of State, Mr. Malaxa after his arrival in the
United States negotiated with American industrial concerns
for their participation in Rumanian industrial developments,
and an agreement was finally concluded with International
Harvester Corporation. He also organized a corporation tn
further American-Rumanian industrial cooperation and obtained
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the interest of various American industrialists in those
projscts, Newer, events moved g#ickly in Rumania and
after the November 190 "elections" the purges began and
the Iron Curtain soon Wa& dropped. .A11 of Mr. Nalara's
properties La Rumania have nOw been Confiecated and his
citizenship has been revoked. Those of his close business
associates who were not fortunate enough to escape are now
in prison or unaccounted for. Early in 1948 Mr. Malaxals
wife and son managed to escape from Rumania and reached
Istanbul. After short stays in Switzerland and Paris, they
went to Brazil where they obtained permanent residence
permits. Thereafter United States visitors' visas were

•- issued to them and they came to the United States in
February 1949. Mr. Malaza r s daughter and son-in-law pre-

-\peded him to New York and are also now in this country.

2CA

'11
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I. BACKGROUND

Personal Background, Family and Early Business EF...perience 

Mr. Nicolae MaIaxa was born on December 10, 1884,
in the Town of Husi, in the Province of Moldavia, Rumania.
His father, Constantin Malaxa, of Rumanian birth, came of a
Greek family which had been settled for some generations in
Rumania. Constantin Malaxa studied medicine, but subse-
quently became an officer in the Rumanian army. He died
while Mr. Malaxa was still a small boy. Mr. Malaxars
mother, Roxandra Malexa, came of a family of long-standing
Rumanian origin. Nicolae Malaxa attended the "Lycee" in
Sassy, Rumania, for a period of eight years. He then at-

f tended the University of Jassy and later studied engineer-
ing at the Polytechnic Institute in Karlsruhe Germany.

.1 He was graduated, magna oum laude, from such institute inv,
,.1912 as an engineer. He returned to Rumania and commenced
the construction of a small factory for the processing of
vegetable oils, being financed by family funds, and with
the assistance of friends. AfteriFffbrit - i year, when he
had established the business on a solid footing, he gave up
the management of tas factory and entered the employ of
the Rumanian State Railways as an engineer in the shops
for the maintenance and repair of rolling stock. He re-'•

j	
mained in the service of the State Railways throughout the

;

	

	 p,,,,First World War, resigning from his position early in 1919.
\ ; b- Shortly thereafter he started a shop of his own for the repairr.4'1' • of locomotives. This locomotive repair shop was the founda-
=x 1:,...,,kA!tion of the Nalaxa industries.

t	 4,4
• Mr.	 was married on February 20, 1918, to

Craescu; who was born at Tecuci, Rumania. Mrs.
'

:11Js"."6t-	

-Ninitica-PArblits and grandparents were all born in Rumania.
The Malaxas have two children, a daughter, Irina, benrn on
August	 11,_294,94 at Bucharest, Rumania, and Son, Can-

on !p322, also at Bucharest. \Irina was
married to ta.. CLe=ge alade on June 12, 1941, and they have
two childre , Georgia, who was born on March 7, 13, at Bu-
charest, and Philip Theodore, who was born on February 27,
1949, at New York, N. Y. Dr. Palade was born on Ndyember
19, 1912, at Jassy, Rumania. Dr. and Mrs. Palade and their
older child came to the United States on March 27, 1946, and
live in New York, where Dr. Palade is a research scientist
with the Rockefeller institute.

Mrs. Malaxa and her son, Constantin, eecaped from
Rumania early in 1948 by hiding themselves on a freighter
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which eventually reached Istanbul, Turkey, on April 6, 1948,
where Mr. Malaxa was able to place them in funds to travel,
first to Switzerland and thereafter to Paris. In Faris
they applied to the U. S. consul for United States visitors'
visas (visitors' visas being the only type available for is-
sue to them) in order to join Mr. Malaxa and Mrs. Falade in
New York. Such visas were refused on the ground that, as
refugees, they would have no place to go once their visas
had expired. Thereafter Mrs. Malaxa and Constantin Malaxa
Obtained Brazilian immigration visas and in October, 1948,
proceeded to Rio de Janeiro. They now hold Brazilian iden-
tity papers as residents of Brazil, and are presently in the
United States on visitors' visas. Such visas were issued to
them by the U. S. consul at Rio de Janeiro and they entered
the United States an February 12, 1949.

Mr. Malaxa t s onlly other surviving ejlóse relatives
are his two sisters, Elena Valaxa and Natalia laza. In so
far as known to Mr. ManiT7176757 are bàthTll1iRWflaflia.
Mr. Malaxa understands that they were recently evicted from
their home in Bucharest.

The Locomotive Works 

The locomotive repair shop started by Mr. Malaxa
about 1920 grew rapidly until it was one of the principal
such shops in Rumania. In 1927, during the reign of King
Ferdinand and three years before Carol came to the throne,
the Rumanian Government passed a law concerning the acqui-
sition by the Rumanian State Railways of railway equipment.
This law offered an opportunity to Rumanian manufacturers
to submit bids for contracts for the supplying of such
equipment, in addition to the foreign industries, princi-
pally German, who had theretofore been the princi pal suppliers
of items of Rumanian railway equipment. Pursuant to such a
bid, Mr. Malara obtained, in 1927, a 20-year contract for the
manufacture of locomotives for the State Railways.. This
contract was in many respects the most important contract
ever obtained by Mr. Malaxa, and made possible the building
up of a large industrial operation for the manufacture of
locomotives. These endeavors were later expanded to in-
elude the manufacture of Diesel-powered self-propelled trains,
Diesel engines, various types of railway cars, items of
braking equipment for railway use, as well as other items of
industrial equipment for use in the oil and chemical indus-
tries. In expanding his activities to these new fields,

f
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Mr. Malaxa became an active competitor and rival of the German
industries which had theretofore supplied to Rumania a large
part of such products of heavy industry.

The Malaxa locomotive works covered an area of some
3,200,000 square feet (approximately 1,000,000 square feet being
under roof) and employed over 6,000 workers.

The Tube Mill 

In 1936 Mr. Malaxa built another factory, adjacent to
his locomotive works, for the purpose of the manufacture of
seamless steel tubes, for which there was a large market in
Rumania, as an oil producing country. This factory, when con-
pleted, had a capacity of approximately 250,000 tons of steel
pipe per year, and included facilities (two separate mills) for
the prodtiCtion of steel tubes for the oil industry ranging in
size from 1/4 inch to 14 itches. The tubes were produced by the
American Stiefel process, and their quality fully met the high
specifications of the American Petroleum Institute. The plant
was one of the most *modern of its kind in Europe, included a
steel mill and covered an area of over 3,000,000 square feet, of
which more than 800,000 square feet were under roof. Approxi-
mately 2,000 workers were employed in the tube mill.

In the construction of his tube factory, Mr. malaxa
met with the vigorous opposition of German and other steel tube
manufacturers and the rigid cartel into which those manufactu-
rers had been organized. He encountered great difficulties in
-obtaining the necessary machinery and equipment, but finally was
able to procure designs for such equipment and to have it pro-
duced for him by a German factory that had not theretofore been
engaged in the production of tube fabricating machinery and thus
was not subject to the domination of the cartel.

The Armament and Munitions Works 

Prior to the late nineteen-thirties, the principal
contracts of the Rumanian Government for the purchase of
armaments were granted to foreign companies, principally the
Czech Skoda and Zbrojovka works, a development which ham-
pered the growth of Rumanian industry and, in the opinion of
many Rumanians, might involve serious consequences in the
event of war. , Mr. malaxa believed Rumanian industry should

,S5
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be expanded to be able to handle, and should be given, a
substantial part of such contracts. He accordingly pre-
pared a detailed program Which he submitted to the Rumanian
Government, and which was approved by it, for the building
up of an armament industry in Rumania and whereby portions of
certain of the contracts which had theretofore been given to
Czech factories would be transferred to Rumanian industries.
In 1936, while the above steps were being taken, Mr. Malaxa,
with the approval of the Rumanian Government, commenced the
aonstruction or large factory in the Carpathian Mountains
for the manufacture of munitions. This operation occupied
an area of some 22,500,000 square feet, of which 750,000
square feet were under roof. Approximately 4,000 workers
were employed.

During the years immediately preceding the war the
munitions plant in the Carpathians and Mr. Malaxa's plants
in Bucharest obtained large contracts from the Government
for the manufacture of munitions and armaments, those fac-
tories receiving, in total, about one-third of all of the
orders for armamant and munitions placed by the Rumanian
Government during that period. However, all Rumanian fac-
tories having facilities for the manufacture of munitions and
armaments were, during those years, given all such contracts
that they could possibly handle.

After the war the Malaxa armament and munitions
works were converted for the manufacture of equipment for
the oil industry, railroad cars and other industrial prod-
ucts.

Corporate Reorganizations 

Early in 1939, Mr. Malaxa reorganized the corporate
structure of his enterprises, without, however, affecting his
ownership or control thereof. He caused three stock corpora-
tions to be organized under Rumanian law, to which were trans-
ferred the ler!' title to his factories. These corpora-
tions were:

N. Malaxa, B.A.R. (the locomotive works),

N. Malaxa, Uzine de Tuburi si Otelarii, S.A.R.
(the tube factory),

N. Malaxa, Fabrica din Tohanul Vechiu,
(the munitions plants).
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Other Business Interests 

1 Resita. During 1932 Mr. Malaxa, jointly with
Mr. Max 9Ausnit, acquired approximately 20% of the outstand-
ing-aligfelf-afp inele de Fier si Domeni le_din . Resita-S...A. --
(hereinafter called • es a •	 e a is the largest irnn and
gtegl-nanutaAtgrAng_eAnaern_in,Rumania , being an integrated
operation having its own iron and coal mines, coke ovens,
blast furnaces and steel finishing facilities, as well as
fabricating facilities for the manufacture of locomotives,
railroad ears and equipment, etc. Resita was the principal

g e	 ii-Of Res	 -ta stock. Mr. Malaxa l s par—lblali

supplier of s el to the Malaxa Works. Such shares were
acquired

largest s1 
T
1
EG, an Austrian co or tion, and constituted

the
ticipation in such acquisition gave him approximately 10% of
the outstanding shares of Resita. He was elected an Admini-
strateur D616gu6 of Resita in 1932, or thereabouts, and
served as such until 1941 when he was removed from the
Board by the Antonescu government. He was reinstated as
a member of'he Resita Board of Directors in June, 1945, but
was again removed by the present Rumanian government after
his departure from Rumania. In 1936 the Resita shares
acquired from STEG by Mr. Malaxa andiMr. Ausnit were trans-
ferred to  a Monacan company known as Centrind, formed for
the purpose. The shares of CentrindiraTaii-turn deposited
with a bank in London under an agreement between Mr. Malaxa
and Mr. Ausnit providing in substance that their respective
Resita shares should be held together and voted as a unit.
Pursuant to a Rumanian law of November 8, 1939, such holding
and voting arrangements for armament manufacturing corpora-
tions became illegal and Mr. Ealaxa, as required by such law,
applied for and received duplicate certificates for his
Resita shares registered in the name of Centrind. Subse-
quently Mr. Ausnit commenced litigation against Mr. Malaxa
alleging breach of the London agreement. That and other
litigation commenced by Mr. Ausnit is hereinafter more ful-
ly described.

Astra. In 1936 or thereabouts Mr. Malaxa and

4

Resita jointly purchased a majority of the shares of the
"Astra ."' Company, of Brasov and Arad, which mAntifart=pd
varame Trumr-or railroad equipment ,_guns, ammunitipp_and
other products. Mr. Malaxa served as an Administrateur
D6legue of such company from 1936 until 1941, when he was
removed from the Board by the Antonescu government.

0 sa-Cu ir. From 1933 until he was removed in
1941 by the	 government, Mr. Malaxa served, at the
request of the Rumanian Government, as an Administrateur
Delêgué of "Copsa-Cugir", a urppration-mamaaoturing-sma.11-
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-__Aarlkx-alULTIVSOm...meapons -and amun:Iimn, therefor, whose fac-
tories had been built during the 1920s in cooperation with
the British Vickers interests under an arrangement with the
RUmanian Government. The Rumanian state owned aPprogimately
80% of the outstanding shares of Copsa-Cugir and theWckers
gompahLowned moat of the remaining 20$ until such shares

	

were'Eold in 1936 or thereabouts to aQg.tabt.inlattloas	
poration'lknown as/Vbrojovka.

Upon the German occupation of Czechoslovakia in
1939, the Germans acquired control of Zbrojovka and through
it of the Copsa-Cugir shares which had been sold to Zbrojov-
ka by the Vickers Company, together with a substantial block
of shares in Resita alst owned by Zbrogovka. In 1940 the

	

of thetliggmlanA2gEla	 4tM
which had taken over Zbrojovka), demanded representation, as
Germans (through Alberti' 

substantial stockholders, on the Boards of.Directore of
Copaa-Cugir and of Resita. Such demands wee made upon
Mr. Malaxa (among others) as an Administrateur Delegue of
the respective corporations. In such capacities he acceded
to such requests, with the approval of the Rumanian Govern-
ment.

Other Companies. Mt. Malaxa also had investments
in various other Rumanian corporations, and was a member of
the boards of directors of several such corporations, among
which were:

4Societatea Nationals de Gas Metan, a corporation
OIDADe' the very lar5el_ATIMI=-112===gAL.0f_matMral—ggib
of which Mr. Malaxa was the largest private stockholder,
the Rumanian State owning 80% of the outstanding stock;

cord Motor Cou	 , the Rumanian Ford subsidiary,
of whic	 •	 axa was Chairman-Ir-VM-Board;

fSantierele Navale Galatzi, an important marine
0.2W1R9112S-2.SERRPY; and--

lo ni, a lisaker company with woodland holdings
of abou 150,000 acres of virgin forest and a plant situ-
ated on the Danube.

s

4
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II. UNDER GERMAN OCCUPATION

The Antonescu Government 

On September 6, 1940, King Carol abdicated, General
Ion Antonescu came into power and Rumania was swung into the
Axis line. Under the "New Order" Rumania was to become a
purely agricultural country, industrially and economically
dependent upon Germany, and her heavy industries were to be
integrated into German concerns, then gradually eliminated.
This was not a program to appeal to Mr. Malaxa, who had pur-
sued with marked success a course diametrically opposed to
that envisaged for Rumania by Hitler.

In December, 1940, the Antonescu government entered
into an economic agreement with Germany, one of the main
objectives of which was to secure for the Germans the more
important industrial installations In Rumania. Mr. Malaxa
refused either to sell his plants to German interests or to
implement the integration of Rumanian industry into the
German economy, and his plants were an essential element in
the Geman plans. A way had to be found and it was, in the
typically Nazi manner.

Arrest of Malaxa and German Seizure; Rogi
I
 er

'"--	 ,(,1,,

In January 1941 the extremistlron Guard (which ((
/

had theretofore participated in a coalitiri-Wrtn-nntnnescu)
attempted an armed insurrection to seize complete power; 	 0'
Antonescu, however, with army support, succeeded in sup-
pressing the rebellion after considerable street fighting
in Bucharest. During the fighting certain Iron Guardists
occupied Mr. Malaxa's house in Bucharest, as well as other
houses in the neighborhood, and used them for cover during
the fighting with the any. The Antonescu government seized
this incident as a pretext, arrested Mr. Malaxa on January 23,
1941, and placed him in a military prison. He was charged

‘ with aiding the rebellious members of the Iron Guard during
the uprising. The charge was not only wholly trumped up

1 and entirely false but on its face ridiculous to those who
! knew of Mr. Malaxa's political and business interests and
; friendships. While subsequently fully exonerated, as noted
below, the pretext served the purpose of putting pressure
upon Mr. Malaxa to "cooperate".

.	 While in prison Mr. Malaxa received various sug-
gestions and requests for his cooperation with the German-
Antonescu economic program, among others being a message
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from Baron von Killinger, the German Minister to Rumania,
threatening Mr. Malaxa with deportation and eventual execu-
tion unless he consented to the transfer of his plants to
the Hermann.roering Werke. His answer was a flat "no".
He was takr. ; . .".Ar military guard to Antonescu and there
"ordered" t' .	He refused; and the process was re-
peated with variations several times, and with the same re-
sult.

Despite his imprisonment, the charges concocted
against him, the pressure and threats, Mr. Malaxa continued
"uncooperative".* On February 13, 1941, only twenty days
after the arrest of Mr. Malaxa, the Antoneseu government
entered into an agreement with the Hermann Goering Werke,
whereby a corporation, to be known as "Rogifer", was to be
formed for the purpose of operating the Malaxa factories,
such corporation to be jointly owned by the Rumanian Govern-
ment and the Hermann Goering Werke. Under the agreement
the entire management of the plants was turned over to the
German company, which was also given an option to purchase
the plants during a period to expire December 31, 1943
(Exhibit 1). In order that this agreement might be carried
out with some semblance of legality, the Government, five
days later, on February 18, 1941, issued a Decree-Law which
purported to expropriate Mr. Nalaxa's interest in his fac-
tories on the supposed ground that his companies had re-
ceived excessive profits on their government contracts (EX-
hibit 2). The Antonescu government apparently was con-
vinced of the futility of persuasion upon Mr. Malaxa and re-
sorted to self help. .

Those steps having been taken, on April 3, Mr.
Ralaxa was released from prison and placed under house ar-
rest in Bucharest (Exhibit 3). While held under such arrest,
Mr. Malaxa was strictly confined to his home, was not permitted
to receive any visitors or to transact any business, and was

* In a fashion typical of dictatorial regimes, Mr. Malaxa
and his family became the butt of a propaganda campaign de-
signed to becloud what was actually going on, and to create
an ostensible justification for the Government's actions.
Many of these stories reached the United States, and ap-
peared at that time in newspapers here. No comparable
publicity was given to Mr. Malaxa's subsequent release from
confinement, or to his eventual clearing of the charges made
against him.
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not even allowed to leave his house to attend his daughter's
wedding. While Mr. Malaxa continued under arrest, the process
of turning the Malaxa works over to the Germans proceeded, the
"legal" details taking some time due, at least in part, to the
Unwillingness of Mr. Malaxa to "cooperate" by signing any
documents whatsoever or giving his consent or approval to any
step. (Exhibits 4 through 9, inclusive)

On June 2, 1941, the incorporation oftogifer , was
authorized by a special decree. On September 29, 1g41,
meetings of the "stockholders" of Mt. Malaxa l s three corpora-
tions were held, at which all the shares of stock of such
corporations were voted /^y. the Rumanian Government, as their
purported owner, in favor of leasing the plants to Rogifer.
On September 30, 1941, the Council of Ministers formally
approved the lease to Rogifer of the MalaXa plants. On
October 9, 1941, the Board of Directors of Rogifer ratified
the lease by that company of the plants, thereby completing
all of the steps required to turn the MalaxaCworki over to
the Germans. Thereafter, on the very same day, October 9,
1941, Mr. Malaxa was released from house arrest (Exhibit 10).

In so far as known to Mr. Malaxa, his works were
the only substantial industrial enterprises in Rumania seized
by the Antonescu government and turned over to the Germans, al-
though the Germans did "purchase" substantial interests from
others in various properties.

Unsuccessful Efforts to Regain Plants during German Occupation

After his release from imprisonment Mr. Malaxa had
nothing whatever to do with the operations of his works during
the occupation of Rumania by the Germans. He stayed either in
Bucharest or at his country home. He did, however, use his
utmost endeavors to secure a reversal of the acts taken with
respect to his properties during his imprisonment. The pre-
texts could be and were proved to be unfounded. Even before
Mt. Malaxa l s release from imprisonment, several of the members
of the Iron Guard who had entered Mr. Malaxa's house during
the uprising were convicted and sentenced for "domicile
violation", the verdict stating that the "culprits *** intro-
duced themselves by force into the Mr. Malaxa's house *** al-
though the culprits knew that they were not allowed to
enter *** without consent, nevertheless they entered fully
determined and by force *** barricading entrances." (Exhibit
11) Further subsequent investigations confirmed that Mr.



Malaxa "did not participate in the legionary rebellion of
January 1941" (i.e. the Iron Guard rebellion), *** "did not
have anything to do whatsoever with the preparations pre-
ceding said rebellion ***", and that he has "never had any
connection with the legionary movement".	 (Exhibits 12 and
13)

A long-drawn-out investigation was conducted by
a government-appointed commission into the charges that ex-
cessive profits had accrued to Mr. Malaxa l s factories on
their government contracts, which resulted in a findi:c that
such charges were without foundation, (Exhibit 14)

After El Alamein (October 23, 1942), Stalingrad
(February 1943), the German surrender in Africa (May 12, 1943),
the Allied landing in Sicily and the fall of Mussolini (July
1943), the enthusiasm of the Antoneseu government for co-
operation with or incorporation into the Nazi orbit was con-
siderably dampened. Supporters of Mr. Malaxa l s efforts to
secure the return to Rumanian control, and to him, of his
plants became more outspoken and effective as time elapsed.
On February 13, 1943, the Rumanian Government entered into
an agreement whereby it repurchased the Rogifer shares held
by the Hermann Goering Werke thus becoming the sole stock-
holder in such corporation. ' (Exhibit 15) On October 9,
1943, the Government issued a further decree liquidating Rog-
ifer, canceling the lease of October 7, 1941, abrogating the
Decree-Law of February 18, 1941, and providing for the re-
turn to Mr. Malexa of the shares of stock in his corporations.
As a condition to the promulgation of the October 9, 1943,
decree, Mr. Malaxa was required to renounce his claim against
the State for non-functioning of the plants. (Exhibit 16)

But having the shares of the Malaxa companies re-
stored to him did not accomplish the physical return of
the plants or place Mr. Malaxa again in control of them, and
he was unsuccessful in his efforts to regain possession and
control from the Antonesou government. On December 19,
1943, a decree was published authorizing the liquidator of
Rogifer to continue operations as before the October 9,
1943, decree.	 (Exhibit 17)

While restitutions of property seized by the Anton-
escu government for racial, religious or political reasons
proceeded as rapidly as possible after the armistice, it was
not, as hereinafter more fully set forth, until April 13, 1945,
seven months after the surrender of Rumania and four years af-
ter their confiscation by Antonescu, that Mr. Malaxa was fully
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restored to the management and control of. his plants through
the operation of a decree published that date. (Exhibit 18).
Such decree, authorized by the Council of Ministers, was sub-
mitted to the King accompanied by a report reviewing the
circumstances under which the Antonescu government had seized
the plants from Mr. Malaxa, and stating that "political inter-
ests forced the past regime to do this act which prejudiced
the Rumanian interests *** [disregarding] all principles of
law and truth *** the State took over the gMalaxa t Works, by
means of a so-called expropriation, supported by groundless
reasons, as was later proved even during the former regime."
The report points out the numerous complexities and matters
requiring settlement, including damages to plants, for de-
livering of the tube mill to the Russians under the Armistice
Convention, etc., which must be settled, and the decree pro-
vided for a commission of arbitrators authorized to settle
all disputes. (Exhibit 19). The terms of the settlement
agreement are further described below.
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III. UNDER RUSSIAN OCCUPATION

Armistice and Russian Occupation 

On August 23, 1944, Xing Michael arrested Marshal
Ion Antonescu and Vice-Premier Mihai Antonescu, and announced
his order to cease fighting and request for an armistice.
The following day the Luftwaffe attacked Bucharest and on
August 25 Rumania declared war against Germany. The Red
Army quickly occupied Rumania, encountering no resistance
from the Rumanians and but little from scattered remnants of
Germans. Within days Rumania was a country completely
occupied by the Red Army. During the occupation process a
new government was installed representing all democratic
political parties.. An Armistice Convention was signed at
Moscow on September 12, 1944, as "dictated by Moscow".

"The Rumanian negotiators came home a disappointed
and puzzled crew, with an armistice that looked, at
least to them, very little like the armistice which
they originally had been offered months before in Z,he
preliminary negotiations conducted through the good
offices of the British and Americans in Cairo, Egypt.
It gave RuSsia almost completely unlimited occupation
privileges ***. The armistice promised a tripartite
Armistice Control Commission, each part--Soviet,
American, and British--to have its own Inalienable
functions, but the whole under Soviet chairmanship.

"This last was considered a ray of hope, but the
hope thinned out as the months went by and neither an
American nor a British political representative arrived
to pair with the soon roaring Soviet Embassy ***.
Meanwhile the Soviet command in Rumania took a tight
grip on everything it wanted to control, ably seconded
by a very large political section working out of the
Soviet Embassy, at which the then chief communist
representative in the first Rumanian surrender govern-
ment, Minister of Justice Lucretiu Patrascanu, was
presently noted to be a faithful daily visitor.

"When eventually, almost at the end of 1944, the
American and the British military and political repre-
sentations did arrive, it was soon found that the pre-
sumably equally important Western military representa-
tives were in fact considered part of the subordinate
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Soviet command, were treated as subordinates, and had
indeed nothing whatsoever to say about the management
of Rumania under the armistice."*

The provisions of the Armistice Convention were
drastic with respect to reparations payments payable by
Rumania to Russia (none of the other allies, incidentally,
made any claim to reparations). Article 11 provided that
losses caused the Soviet Union as a result of the occupation
by the Rumanian forces of portions of Soviet territory would
be made good by Rumania, but "taking into consideration
that Rumania has not only withdrawn from the war but has
declared war and in fact is waging war against Germany and
Hungary," it was agreed that compensation for losses would
be made only in part, namely, up to an amount of $300,000,000
U. S. dollars payable over a six-year period in commodities
(oil-products, grain, timber products, sea-going and river
craft, sundry machinery, etc.). (Exhibit 20)

During and following the process of occupation
of Rumania by the Russians, the Red Army engaged in exten-
sive looting, carrying off considerable amounts of merchan-
dise, machinery and movable equipment. Few, if any, indus-
trial establishments were spared, in the case of Mr. Malaxa's
plants the products, machinery and equipment so taken being
of a value of more than a half million dollars and including
almost the entire contents of a modern engine plant. American
owned as well as other plants were looted, the oil companies
being particularly subjected to the activities of the loot-
ing squads. None of the owners of the looted property has
received any compensation therefor, nor has the Rumanian
Government been given any credit in respect of looted prop-
erty against its $300,000,000 obligation under the Armistice
Convention.

Tube Mill Taken by Russians under Armistice Convention 

The Russians, as the Germans before them, lost
little time after occupation in attempting to gain control or
at least partial ownership of important Rumanian industries.
In October 1944 a proposal, later pressed by Mr. Finogenov,
the Russian Chief of the Economic Section of the Allied Con-
trol Commission, was made to Mr. Malaxa that he sell his
plants against payment in large part in United States dollars
in Switzerland. This proposal and all similar suggestions
which would have given the Russians ownership of or a parti-

* King and O'Brien, The Balkans, p. 124.
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cipation in his plants were flatly rejected. As in the case
of the Germans, the Russians resorted to self help, although
in this case, during the first months at least, without the
active assistance of the Rumanian government in office.

On November 10, 1944, a proposal was made, in
the name of the Inter-Allied Control Commission, by the
Russian General Vlnogradov, to the Rumanian Commission
for Armistice Enforcement that the Malaxa tube mills be
handed over to the Soviet Union under Article 11 (men-
tioned above) of the Armistice Convention, despite the fact
that the mills could not properly be considered as
"commodities", within the meaning of such Article. On
November'27, 1944, the Rumanian Commission explained to
the Control Commission that the dismantling and shipment to
Russia of the Malaxa tube mills would have serious reper-
cussions on the implementation of the Armistice Convention,
as the loss of those mills would greatly hinder the repair
and development Of Rumania's Oil industry and diminish the
production out of which the Rumanian obligations under the
Armistice Convention had to be fulfilled, especially as
some 50 of these obligations were to be satisfied by de-
liveries of petroleum products. On November 29, 1944,
General Vinogradov advised the Rumanian authorities of "the
final and irrevocable" decision of the U.S.S.R. Government
to take over the tube mills as reparations. (Exhibit 21)
This advice was implemented by action, and on the next day,
November 30, a Soviet military detachment appeared at the
tube mill, took possession, and started loading finished
tubes that were in the warehouse. On December 1 the Ruman-
ian Commission was advised that the 'Rumanian Government had
been ordered by the U.S.S.R. to turn over the tube mills at
Once. On December 4 the Minister of National Economy ad-
vised the Rogifer company (which still had de facto posses-
sion of the mill) that it had .become imperative to hand over
the tube mill to the Russians. (Exhibit 21-a) On December 17
actual dismantlement of the 14-inch tube mill was commenced.
In the meantime every effort had been made by Mr. Malaxa to
prevent the dismantlement of the tube mill. He made a =
personal request to the King for his intervention, and to
General Radescu, the then Prime Minister. He also sought
and obtained the intervention and help of Dr. X. Manlui
President of the National Peasant Party, Mr; D. Bratianu,
President of the National Liberal Party and of Mr : Savel
Radulescu, the Chairman of the Rumanian Armistice . Commis-
sion. These gentlemen did all they could to prevent the
taking of the tube mill, although Mr. Bratianu advised Mr.
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Malaxa to permit the Russians to participate in his plants,
being thereby hopeful of averting the disastrous consequences

to the country of the dismantlement of the mills. Mr. Malaxa
was unwilling to make that compromise, although he agreed to
consider a short term lease which, however, was unsatisfactory
to the Russians. The interventions and protests were, how-
ever, partially successful, and General Vinogradov finally
agreed to leave the 6-inch mill standing, at least temporarilfi.
This decision was communicated on December 22, 1944, by a
letter from the Minister of National Economy addressed to
Rogifer. (Exhibit 21-b) Although requested to cooperate in
the evaluation of the dismantled plant for the purpose of
determining the credit to be given to Rumania under the Armis-
tice Convention in respect thereof, Mr. Malaxa refused. Under
date of January 2, 1945, the Minister of National Economy wrote

HAS early as Nov. 29, 1944, we notified Mr. Malaxa
of this situation [that "the Allied Control Commission
(Soviet Commission) notified the Roumanian government
on Nov. 29, 1944, of its 'final and irrevocable' deci-
sion to take over the Malaxa Tube plantl *** and
requested him to take part in the computation of the
value of the plants or to extend his cooperation, 3ince
it was in the interest of the Roumanian state, as re-
gards dealings with the Allied Control Commission, to
reach as fair a .valuation as possible *** all of which
does not clash with your interests. Nevertheless, your
cooperation is not forthcoming.

"While your reserve could be understood at the
time, as motivated by a feeling that you feared that
your cooperation in the evaluation would be interpreted
as consenting that the plant be taken over; today,
since weare faced by a de facto •situation, created by
the unilateral will of the Allied Control Commission,
the problems of an accurate assessment *** must come
before the hypothetical pre-occupation mentioned
above". (Exhibit 21)

Mr. Nalaxa's tube mill 'was the only industrial plant
taken out of Rumania by the Russians under Article 11 of the
Armistice Convention. The Rumanian Government was given a
credit in respect of the plant in the amount of $2,460,000
against the -$300 million due as reparations under the'Armistice
Corvention. (Exhibit 22) As noted above, substantial amounts •
of ,property were carried off by the Russians as loot, including
steStantially all the contents of an engine plant belonging to
Mr. Malaxa. Neither credit to the Rumanian Government nor com-
pensation to the owners has been made Ch respect of looted
property.



ye":

24.

Eventual Recovery  of Plants

Although Rumania was a country ruthlessly occupied
by the Russians, Rumanians Jonfidently hoped, and believed,
that somehow they would be able to reestablish themselves as
a free democratic country. To this end they counted much on
the help and backing of the Western powers, especially the
United States. That hope was difficult to extinguish.
and still survives among many who have managed to escape.
Their efforts, sincere and fearless though futile, to stem
the Russian tide and to find a modus vivendi with or under
the Russians, are now, unfortunately, but a chapter of the
history of the Russian annexation of eastern Europe.

The surrender government

" *** lasted until early in 1945, when, feeling the
increasing heat of attack from the Left, the 'Historic'
parties tried to take matters more into their own
hands by installing General Radescu aa premier. ***

The man who the Historic parties hoped might
save the situation, General Radescu, seemed as well

( fitted for the job as could be expected if it is re-
membered that the party leaders who settled on him

/

' were more concerned with nationalistic patriotism than
with politics, hating Soviet domination as much as
they had German.

"Radescu was non-political in the sense that he
had never been an active politician but had stuck to
his army career. *** in 1942 he *** wrote a bitter
letter to the German Ambassador *** protesting that
Germany was leading Rumania, for purely German ends,
farther and farther into a bitter and bloody war ***1
for which Rumania might some,day have to pay a heavy
penalty. *** For his temer1-0 Radescu spent nearly
two years in concentration camp."*

As we now know, the Radescu government was the
last stand of the Historic parties and democratic forces in
Rumania. During February 1945, while negotiations were
theoretically taking place in Moscow for the orderly develop-
ment of the Rumanian situation under tripartite participation,

* King and O'Brien, The Balkans, pp. 127-128.
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Vyshinski arrived in Bucharest and requested an audience with
the King that evening. He demanded the dismissal of the
Radescu government.

" *** Mr. Vyshlnski the next day demanded an
audience with the King and asked for his decision
on the suggestion of the previous evening. The
King replied he had communicated this information
to General Radescu and had started consulting party
leaders for the purpose of choosing another Prime
Minister. Vyshinski declared this answer was
unsatisfactory. Then, the report stated, Vyshinski
looked at his watch and told the King he had just
two hours and five minutes to make it known to the
public that General Radescu had been dismissed. By

/	 eight o'clock, he added in emphasis, the King must
tell the public the name of his successor."*

Efforts to form a successor government encountered
difficulties.

" *** Shortly afterward Mr. Vyshinski sent word
to the King that the Communist leader, Petru Groza,
was the choice of the Soviet government. Neverthe-
less, the King continued to consult party leaders and
on the evening of March 1, Vyshinski again saw the
King to inform him personally that the Soviet Union
wanted Groza appointed'. The King then decided to
charge groza with the formation of a government."*

The ',:aking of the tube mill and the working out of
a settlement in respect thereof, the matter of disposition
of the claims relating to past operations of the Malaxa
factories an similar matters, presented numerous practical
and technical problems which required solution or settlement
1?„efore the actual return of Mr. Malaxa's ppints to him could

C3 

e completed. To this end, the Radescu cabinet appointed
a Commission to prepare a detailed settlement agreement
whereby the planteWbuld be effectively returned to their
rightful owner. This Commission had not completed its
work at the time of the dismissal of Radescu. Even under
normal conditions such matters would have required con-
siderable time, but to settle them amid the chaos then existing,

* Byrnes, Speaking Frankly, p. 51.

C.
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under a government beset with all the problems of military
occupation and conflicting pressures from various political
and national groups, was an accomplishment indeed. As noted
above, Mr. Malaxa's plants were the only important Rumanian
industrial enterprise taken over by the Antonescu Government,
so that the restitution of those plants presented a unique
situation which did not fall into any program of general
application. Also, there was the matter of compensation for
the tube mill, the only Rumanian plant (at least up to that
time) turned over to the Russians under the Armistice Con-
vention.

The Russians and their Rumanian Communist henchmen,
upon being installed in power through Vyshinski's inter-
vention, did not immediately adopt an anti-capitalist atti-
tude. Reassurances, seemingly authoritative, were given to
industrialists so as to induce them to invest in the rehab-
ilitation of their factories.* The settlement agreement
with respect to the Malaxa factories, which was in process

* See Article by Cainiliig, Reds Seen Chokinitrade in
Rumania, New York Times; March 2, 19494

" *** the Rumanian middle class already
has been victimized by a fraud that Premier •
Stalin and other leading Communists recently
have tried out on the world at large. This is
the conception that 'capitalism and communism
can live very well together.'

"When the Communists seized power in Rumania,
they told the 'capitalists' through the authori-
tative voice of the secretary-general of the
Communist party that they had nothing to fear.
'Don't worry,' the 'capitalists' were told,
'continue to invest; you will be protected.'

"Incredible as it may seem now, many an
industrialist and many a small business man and
shopkeeper believed these assurances. In the
enthusiasm of the first postwar reconstruction,
great sums were invested. It is true that as
time went by taxes increased to the point where
they almost wiped out profits. But at least the
investors had the Communist party's guarantee that
their property would be protected."
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of preparation by the Commission appointed by General
Radescu, was not, therefore, allowed to drop by the incoming
government, although, of course, the Communist elements
therein could hardly be expected to be enthusiastic over the
proposal. Mr. Malaxa endeavored in every way available to
overcome their active or passive resistance to the restitu-
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ReiNglm-TradA_Commissioner), w66-Wa's15-621-gred to be persona 
grata and on good terms with influential Russian elements
and with certain Communist ministers, to endeavor to expedite
the completion of the restitution. Mr. Malaxa believes the
efforts of Mr. Solacolu contributed to the final conclusion
of the protracted and complicated negotiations. He also
believes that earlier efforts of Mr.'Solacolu were largely
responsible for modification of the Russian demands as re-
•gards the tube mill, with the result that the Russians did

,..'not take, as they originally proposed to do, the 6-inch mill
along with the 1k-inch mill.* Mr. Malaxa did not otherwise
retain the services of, or make any payment to, any-person
who might be considered a Communist or Communist collaborator,
with one possible exception in the case of his proposed
arrangements with Max Ausnit hereinafter mentioned.

Pursuant to the law of April 13, 1945 (Exhibit 18),
restoring to Mr. Malaxa his plants, a "Transaction and Act
of Compromise" (hereinafter referred to as an agreement) was
entered into under date of April 17, 1945. (Exhibit 23)). •

4,3-6s ,i; Such agreement made provision for or disposed of claims re-4,1\y A
lating to past operations, open contracts and accounts, work in
process and manufactured goods, transfer of employees and
various similar matters. The agreement also provided (Article
3), in part, that:

"As a counter value to the 14" rolling mill and
of the machines in the pipe factory which the State
handed over to the Soviet High Command in part payment
of its war damages, the Roumanian State acknowledges
the debt and lays at the disposal of the IN. Malaxa,
Pipe and Steel Works S.A.R. Company abroad, the sum
of 2,460,000 U.S.A. dollars effectively and free of

* Mr. Solacolu's position of influence, if in fact it
actually existed, did not last. It is understood that he
subsequently fled from Rumania and is now living in South
America.

V-t)\	r, •f
'"co

r-+	 ■	 "
„jo 'cgq

-ttP



2B

any present or future restrictions, namely the sum
in dollars which the State has deducted from the war
damages due to the U.R.S. by handing over the rolling
mill and the machines."

Collection of Tube Mill Indemnity and Conversion into Dollars 

As noted above, the Rumanian government had been
given a credit of $2,460,000 under the Armistice Convention
in respect of the tube mill delivered by the Rumanian Govern-
ment to the U.S.S.R. under Article 11 of the Armistice Conven-
tion. Such amount was agreed upon as the value of the mill
between the Soviet authorities and the Rumanian ministry
handling the matter. The value so fixed was substantially less
than the actual or replacement value of the mill. At the same
time the Russians received about $525,000 value of semi-
finished steel for use in the tube mill which belonged to
Rogifer, the government corporation still in possession and
then operating the plants. The Rumanian Government was like-
wise given credit for such steel under the Armistice Conven-
tion. (Exhibit 22)

This provision for payment by the government of
the above amount was in accordance with the normal procedure
in the case of reparation payments required by the Armistice
Convention. Commodities destined to be turned over to the
Russians under such Convention were purchased by the Govern-
ment from suppliers, who, normally, received payment there-
for from the Government in the local currency. Provision
was made for payment in dollars in respect of the tube mill
as all parties recognized that, in order to replace the tube
mill, it would be necessary to purchase the necessary mach-
inery and equipment outside of Rumania and that payment .
therefor would have to be made in foreign currency.

Notwithstanding the commitment of the Government to
make payment in respect of the tube mill in foreign currency,
neither Mr. Malaxa nor any of his companies ever received
any payment in dollars or other foreign currency directly
from the Government on account of such obligation. After
more than a year of unsuccessful efforts to secure such
payment, on June 7, 1946, the Rumanian Government authorized
the issuance of permits to the Malaxa Tube Company for the
export from Rumania of certain products, from the proceeds of
the sale of which the tube compaluo	 be able to reimburse
itself in foreign exchange up to 	 ' t of the Govern-
ment's obligation for payment in 	 p	 df the tube mill.
(Exhibit 24) While several export 'permits were subse- •
quently granted pursuant to such authorization, none proved
of any value or became an effective reality except one
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permit covering the export of some 10,000 cubic meters of
lumber, from which export and sale Mr. Malaxa realized approxi-
mately $190,000.

Realizing that the promised payment in foreign
exchange, whether directly or through the issue of export per-
mits, would not in fact be made, Mr. Malaxa requested that pay-
ment be made to him in lei, the local currency. part payments
in lei on account of the obligation of the Government were made
for a while thereafter, during the period that Alexandrini, a
member of the National Liberal Party, was Finance Minister, but
such payments ended when Luca, a Communist, became Finance
Minister.

During the period of his efforts to obtain payment of
the Government's dollar obligation in respect of the tube mill,
various proposals were made to Mr. Malaxa by persons who
believed they could induce the Government to carry out its
agreement. Mr. Melaxa discussed this matter with Mr. Max
Ausnit who stated that he was able and willing, and for a sub-
stantial fee would, obtain payment in full, in U. S. dollars
or Swiss francs, of the $2,460,000 due to Mr. Malaxa from
the Rumanian Government under the settlement agreement. Not-
withstanding that Mr. Malaxa had had previous unfortunate
business experiences with Ausnit, Mr. malaxa regarded Mr.
Ausnit as an ideal person to effectuate the payment because
of the services he had rendered to Russian interests and
the Communist regime in Rumania. It was Ausnit who gave
the Russians their first participation in the industrial
properties of Rumania through the issue to them of a pro-
prietary stock interest in Resita in lieu of satisfying their
claim in kind for Russian raw materials consumed during the
war, establishing a pattern later followed by the Russians
in Rumania and other occupied .countries.* He had had

*Ausnit, as administrateur deldgud . 'of Resita, had, under
date of December 29, 1944, without the authorization or approval
of the Rumanian Government then in office, proposed to the
Russians an arrangement, whereby stock of Resita would be issued
to the U.S.S.R. in settlement of Russian claims in respect of
ore and scrap iron, from Russian sources, consumed by Resita
during the German occupatiOn. (Exhibit 25) Such arrangement
was subsequently concluded, with the U.S.S.R. becoming the
owner of 30% of the outstanding stock of Resita.
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an active part in organizing the SOVROMswhich were eagerly
sought by the Russians and had participated through companies
controlled by him in SOVROM Lenin which took over the /umber
industry.* And it was Ausnit who had suggested to the Rus-
sians that they take the Malaxa tube mills in order to further
the reconstruction of the U.S.S.R. on the asserted ground
that the mills were too large for the needs of Rumania. Thus
it appeared that if anyone could induce the Graze govern-
ment to make payment in foreign exchange as required by the
settlement agreement, probably Ausnit could; and, in any
event, ',.he fee requested, though exorbitant, was entirely
contingent. Ausnit, however, was not successful. Subse-
quently he claimed to be entitled to his fee notwithstanding
and litigation, hereinafter mentioned, ensued.

Part of the lei received by Mr. Malaxa in lieu of
dollars under the settlement agreement were subsequentl y con-
verted into foreign exchange under arrangements made on behalf
of Mr. Malaxa with the American Joint Distribution Committee
and the Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society under Rumanian govern-
ment approvals obtained by such organizations. Under such
arrangements Mr. Malaxa furnished to such organizations lei
required by them in Rumania for charitable and other relief to
the Jewish inhabitants of Rumania, against Swiss francs paid
to Mr. Malaxa in Switzerland or U. S. dollars paid to him in

"It would be untrue to say that all this [SOVROMs
and Russian participations in Rumanian industries)
was the exclusive work of the Communists. Prominent
Rumanian capitalists helped them. Most of these men
came from around Gheorge Tatarescu, later discarded
as foreign minister. Others were independent indus-
trialists. It was said that Max Ausnit, the little
red-haired steel man who entertained Russians as
lavishly as Americans, had a hand in organizing SOVROM
Lem, which took over the timber cutting and lumber
industry. These men,knowingly or unknowingly, were
strong supporters of the sixth column. Many supported
their aims, no doubt, in honest efforts to come to a
peaceful understanding with the big neighbor of their
country. Others expected personal gains out of their

\\	
collaboration." (Bishop and Crayfield', "Russia Astride
the Balkans", p.

cs.
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New York.* (Exhibit 26)

Efrorts to Secure American Participations 

Before the war Mr. Malaxa built a Rumanian industry;
after the war his efforts were directed toward rebuilding and
expanding that industry. As an engineer and industrialist, he -
fully appreciated and recognized the desirability, if not
necessity, of securing the cooperation, participation and
"know-how' of leading American firms. Only with American
technical cooperation and with American machines could
Rumanian industry be rehabilitated and enlarged. Only under
a democratic form of government would this be possible, and
only with greater American economic participation and .
interest in Rumania could Rumania resist the pressure of the
Communist forces. Those were complementary principles which
guided Mr. Malaxa t s activities until hope, at least for the
present, was extinguished by the absorption of Rumania by
the U.S.S.R.

Indeed, immediately prior to the War, he had taken
steps to create such a relationship with American industry.
The Germans completed their occupation of Czechoslovakia in
the early spring of 1939. Mr. Malaxa had theretofore de-
pended, in considerable measure, on Czech steel mills for
his supplies of raw material, the Rumanian production- being
insufficient to supply all the potential market in that country
for semi-finished iron and steel products. Since the Germans
had shown themselves hostile to Rumanian heavy industry in
general, and particularly to Mr. Malaxa's steel tube opera-
tions., he felt the need for looking to alternat sources
supply, and sent .two of his  enAineerp % Mesars.
to the United States to investigate possible-arrangem nts
with American steel companies. These gentlemen, upon the
recommendation of a minor Rumanian diplomatic official,

* A similar arrangement has recently been made by the
Vatican with certain American motion picture companies, whereby
lire frozen in Italy are to be released for the construction of
a seminary for American priests, and the Church authorities in
the United States are to turn over to the motion picture'com-
panies an equivalent amount in dollars. (See The New York
Times, March 9 and 10, 1949.)

-ass,

1
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consulted a New York lawyer, Mr.. Bernard tav e, who, on
their behalf, incorporatediMetalex anufa_c.Mr,pqr.a.tion
under the laws of New York; on May 20, 194o.. Due to the
rapid spread of the War thereafter, and the engulfing of
Rumania under the German tide, Messrs. Cerkez and Meta were
unable to proceed further with their task.

In the summer4of 1944 Mr. Malaxa was in touch with

a certain Hen	 . At Mr. Noel's suggestion, Mr. Malaxa
a representativ or the/Standard,011.Company -(New-Jersey)4,

made a formiT proposal to sell to Standard a one-third
interest in his various enterprises, the purchase price being
payable only out of earnings. Mr. Malaxa never received any
answer from Standard to his proposal. (Exhibit 27)

In November, 1944, Mr. Malaxa retained
itde of DgtX0.11.,-Michlgan, who was introduced to Mr. Mglaxa
in Bucharest, and authorized him,- as his attorney, to interest
some large American industrial enterprise, or to organize a
group of corresponding strength, to acquire a one-third
interest in Mr. Malaxa's enterprises in Rumania, upon the same
terms as those offered to Standard Oil. Mr. Malsxa explicitly
stated that actual participation of American representatives
of the purchaser or purchasers in the management of the Malaya
industries was imperative. Col. Ide was not, however, success-
ful in effecting any such arrangement. (Exhibit 26)

, Again, 113. April, 1945 ., Mr. Malaya retained a cer-
tain(Ool)_Grady C,IMacGlassonA, who had been a prominemt
maMher of the lij...L.I.Mlitary Misq101-0.-ROMPia_after the
War, to return to the United States as his agent to bring
about some form of collaboration between the Malaxa indus-
tries and a first-rate American industrial concern or
banker. In consideration of technical information and
assistance from such American concern, Mr. Malexa was will-
ing to turn over 20% of the shares of his principal corpora-
tion. Col. MacGlasson was also to investigate the possi-
bility of creating a Rumanian branch for an American auto-
mobile manufacturer. (Exhibit 29)

Soon after Col. MacGlasson t-s, return-to the United
States from Rumania, he got in touch with theiser-Frazer
Cernoration,. who indicated an interest in neg 

p
firting WI'Eh

Mr. Malaxa * for the construction and operation in Rumania of
a factory for the manufacture of tractors and, possibly, for
the manufacture or assembly of automobiles and trucks.
Arrangements were made for a conference between Mr. Malexa,
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a Mr.'Dodge, at the time heap of the Kaiser-Frazer Export
Deidattirrar,' arid. BernardAeurpn, the Nam...36v1—lawyer who,
under the nate oijjajil, had earlier been retained by
Messrs. Cerkez aria Meta during their pre-war trip to the
United States. Mr. Dodge, however, was unable to make the
trip and Mr. Lauren alone met with Mr. Melaxa in Istanbul in
January, 1946. Mr. Mala ya and Mr. Lauren agreed, as a basis
for discussion, upon the organization of a mixed corporation,

:,which would lease all or part of Mr. Malaxa's factories for
the purpose of carrying on such operations, in which the
American interests would have a 22-1/2% interest, Mr. Malaya
would have a 55% interest, and the Russians would have a
22-1/2% interest. The reason for including the Russians as
participants in the venture was that, through the Allied
Control Commission and their Communist colleagues in the
Rumanian Government, they were in a position to interpose an
effective veto upon the organization and commencement of
business of any large new industrial enterprise in Rumania,
such as that contemplated by Mr. Malaxa and in which American
interests would be represented. In the light of the condi-
tions existing at the time (less than a year after Yalta and
while high hope still survived for the fulfilment of the
Yalta pledges for international cooperation), Mr. Malaxa was
hopeful that, despite such enforced Russian participation,
the American investment in the new enterprise and the Ameri-
can technicians who would necessarily proceed to Rumania in
order to assist in its development would help to build up
Rumanian industry and help preserve and strengthen the econ-
omic influence of the United States in Rumania. Mr. Lauren
told Mr. Malaya that. .he would submit this proposition to the
United States State 'Department upon his return to the United
States. Mr. Mala ya, upon his return from Istanbul, gave a
full account of the scheme to Mr. Emil Kekich, the American
Commercial Attache, to be forwarded by the latter to the
proper authorities in Washington. Nothing ever came of the
scheme, however.

Col. MacGlasson was not able to find any other
potential American investors in Rumanian industries, and
eventually his authority as Mr. Malaxa t s agent was term-
inated, upon the payment of substantial sums to him and to
an associate of his as compensation for their efforts, suph
as they were. Mr. Lauren, who had assisted Col. MacGlasson,
also brought suit Th. the United States courts against Mr.
Malaya, alleging that Mr. Mala ya had promised him a large
fee for his services, which was eventually settled b:- the
payment of a substantial"amount to Mr. Lauren.

C.
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IV. ACTIVITIES IN THE UNITED STATES

Economic Mission to the United States

During 1945 and 1946 many Rumanians believed that
Rumania would survive Russian occupation and that once the
peace treaty was signed Rumania would once again be a free
and independent country. • Mr. Malaxa shared those views and
was further convinced that close economic cooperation be-
tween Rumania and the United States was essential if Ru-
manian industry was to be reestablished. Mn. Malaxa fre-
quently discussed such matters with Mr. Emil/Kekich, the

• restv wh-crWerTir-rMalaxa

encouragement and support in his efforts to achieve Rumanian-
American industrial collaboration. Before Mr. Malaxa came
to the United States in 1946, to further his efforts for
such collaboratiOn, Mr. Kekich assisted him-considerably in
the preparation for his trip and in furnishing letters of
introduction.	 (Exhibit 30.)

The idea of an Economic Mission to the United
States of which 4r. Malaxa would be a member had originated
in 1945 with Ion ernacki, who was general manager of the
state railroa s.	 Bernacki called on Mr. Malaxa and
stated that be desired to go to the United States and there
seek credits with which to rebuild the Rumanian railroads,
and asked Mr. Malaxa if he would joint-a.m. 	 Mr. Bernacki
stated that he had already discussed his project with Max
Ausnit, who had agreed to the proposal. 	 Mr. Malaxa stated
his willingness to join the mission.

A memorandum (Exhibit 31) was prepared and sub-
mitted to the Government, outlining the possibilities of
obtaining credits in the United States, which referred to an
article published by Mr. Kekich in the Rumanian press early
in 1946, and to the article in the June, 1945, issue of Read-
ers' Digest by Eric Johnston. The mission was approved in
principle by government officials. Gheorghiu-Dej, a prom-
inent member of the Cabinet, called Messrs. Malaxa and Aus-
nit and informed them that they might go to the United States
to undertake preliminary negotiations, but without authority
to speak for or to commit the Government. 	 At the suggestion
of Mr. Ausnit, who was President of the American-Rumanian
Chamber of Commerce, it was decided that the mission should
be as a delegation from that organization, the purpose of
the mission being to forste 7 . commercial relationships between
Rumania and the United Stal.:.s. The mission so constituted

• 11 11 1 .4
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received the assistance of the American representatives in
Bucharest.	 (Exhibits 32 and 33.) The members of the mis-
sion left Rumania in June, 1946.

En route to the United States Mr. Malaxa stopped
in Paris for two months, where the Peace Conference was in
session. Despite the wranglings and difficulties of the
Paris conference, it still appeared possible that Rumania
could pull through. The treaty would guarantee "the enjoy-
ment of human rights and of the fundamental freedoms ***"
and secure the country against "discriminatory legislation
and restrictions thereunder" and prevent the "denial to the
people of their democratic rights." Rumania was not Com-
munist and the small minority which had seized power would
be'out once the promised free election should take place.
But, as we now know, the promised free election did not take
place.*

A Basis for Rumanian-American Industrial Collaboration

Promptly after his arrival in the United States on
September 29, 1946, Mr. Malaxa set about the accomplish-
ment of the objectives of his visit: to secure technical
cooperation of American concerns in the rebuilding of Ruman-
ian industry, an achievement, the accomplishment of which
would have been, in the opinion of Mr. Malaxa and many, the
strongest possible defense against Soviet influence. The
Armistice Convention, however, had greatly limited the scope
of possible trade with the West by diverting to Russia as
reparations the greater part of the principal articles of
Rumanian export, such as oil products, grain and timber.
Accordingly, any substantial trade with the West had to be
in new industrial products or as a result of increased in-
dustrial production, and Mr. Malaxa devoted his energies to
exploring possibilities in that direction and seeking collab-
oration with American companies to create new industrial
enterprises in Rumania. Within a few weeks Mr. Malaxa was
in negotiation with various American companies and had re-
tained engineers to make studies of possibilities of develop-
ment of Rumanian resources, particularly its large deposits
of natural gas and its great fields of reeds and rushes in
the Danubian delta country. A brief outline of the principal
of such activities is set forth below. Mr. Malaxa t s efforts
to interest American companies in Rumanian development came

N-°* Bishop and Crayfield,1 "Russia Astride the Balkans", pp.
258-263, gives an interesting description of the "elections"/-
of November, 1946. -- ------.
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to an end late in 1947 when the Russian Communists came into
Lull power: King Mihai was forced to abdicate and the Iron
Curtain was drawn over Rumania.

Clearance from Department of State 

Mr. Malaxa realized that accomplishment of his ob-
jects and of his various projects for their achievement —would require, if not the specific approval of the United
States government, at least its tacit consent, and he,
therefore, kept the U. S. State Department at all times in-
formed as to his plans and projects. As already noted, he,
.while still in Rumania, had been in close touch with Mr.
Emil Kekich, the Commercial Attache ofthe American mission
in Bucharest. Later, in Switzerland, while enroute to the
U. S., he4discussed his plant in considerable detail with Mr.
Thomas C,IBlgiadell,..Assistant for International Trade to the
Srd-ietary of Commerce.

Promptly after his arrival i this lentr7_,_ Mr.
Malaxa, thropgh his attorneys, e 	 'Pehl&	 sser and
Mr. Z*,andolphraul, communicated with tile appropriate officials
of th-e—Stbre Department, and such attorneys were informed,
after extensive discussions with such Officials, that the
Department, on the basis of the available facts, would have
no objection to Mr. Malaxa l s :undertaking industrial and,
other operations in the Americas. (Exhiibit 34.)

International Harvester

.Soon after his arrival, Mr. Malaxa commenced nego-
tiations with International Harvester ciorporation with .a
view to effecting arrangements for the Manufacture on a
considerable scale in Rumania of tractOrs and other agricul-
tural machinery produced by that Company. This would have
been a new industry for Rumania, but Mr. Malaxa believed that
his factories and personnel were capabl'e, with the assist-
ance of American technicians,; of producing such equipment
successfully.* After long negotiation's Mr. Melaxa and

. * Improvement In the standard of living of the Rumanian
peasantry has been a cause toj which Mr.:, Malaxa has devoted much
time and given liberally over,a period of yeara. (See below
under Political Activities.) !During hiS enforded leisure from
business affairs Under the Antoneseu regime, H. Malaxa devoted
his time to a study of agricultural machinery and methods of
'making such machinery available to the Rumanian peasantry,
who in most caSes had very small plots af land, individually
too, small to support machinery. Also, Mr. Malaxa has always
felt that the peasantry constituted the backbone of Rumanian
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tiiternational Harvester exailltrriiiriigreement dated August

5, - 1947; khibh-IicetSed the Malaxa factories to produce
tractors and other implements using International Harvester's
designs and in accordance with International Harvester's
standards. (Exhibit 35) The U. S. State Department, to
which the agreement was submitted, indicated it had no ob-
jection thereto. (Exhibit 36) Under the agreement American
specialists were to be sent to Rumania to assist in getting
the operation under way. In view of the way political
events were developing, however, a provision was inserted
in . the agreement that, as a condition to its becoming ef-
fective, the Rumanian Government should guarantee that the
Malaxa factories would not be nationalized during the 10
year period of the agreement, and that International Har-
vester should have an option to purchase participation in
the Malaxa corporations. The Government refused to give
any such assurance and consent, and accordingly the agree-
ment never came into effect. (Exhibit 37.)

• Roumanian-American Economic Corporation

As a corporate vehicle for his efforts in order to
further economic relationsibetween the United States and
Rumania, Mr. Malaxa caused RegmanienrAmerican.E014Pm.
porationzto be organized under the laws of New York on May

• 19-;-1947: Mr. Malaxa subscribed for most of the shares of the
t,c.ommori stook of the corporation which were originally issued,

.. , (-r	 were" LP 	 issued t	 4tehé. preferred 'it-Ock	 o	 hlM Steel Company and
, ftehmuLgrothers subscribing flthe . balance; and shares of

-ell iS:fr' 7 , J,4 . O'Generaglgctric_Company.. The firm Cif-giliEFlErahera fur-
rifilied va1ued.assistancato4Mr. Malaxa in the formulation of

.0 	 his plans, and Mr. Frank,J..10anheim, of such firm, became a
Vice-President of Roumanian-American Economic Corporation.

.‘'.'sj.,.e ,u-c7
F:7:1.;,-"".vr•-...,5,-..,11'. .,.. 	 The corporation was instrumental in negotiating a•
-...%.e.k,P Proposal by Bethlehem Steel Company in the fall of 1947 to

.2', va..?:-,,,r furnish certain oil well equipment needed by the Rumanian oil
1.--m-.v\	 industry, at prices lower than were quoted by any other pro-

‘trYA1:: 4P'

Vj-

spective . supplier. The Rumanian Government rejected this
proposal 

democracy and the strongest possible bulwark against Communism.
Accordingly, Mr. Malaxa l s efforts during his early months in
the United States were directed to the establishment of an
Industry to manufacture agricultural machinery in Rumania.
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In October, 1947, the corporation formally submitted
to the Rumanian Legation in Washington a letter outlining the
purposes of the corporation, and setting forth various proj-
ects for economic collaboration between the United States and
Rumania which were being explored by the corporation, such as
railroad electrification and the development of natural gas
as a carburant.	 (Exhibit 38) No apparent notice, however,
was taken by the Rumanian Government of these proposals.

Industrial Inter-Trade Corporation

In the all of 1946, soon after his arrival, Mr.
Malaxa retained IsidUstrial Inger=Trade_Corporation, of_ay_r.

t4.NPFireipal offieers i ofilhicla were two en-
gineers, Messrd. CNicholides andpitgi, to investigate_certain
technical -PrVb/AW-InHCOrifiecti n w	 increasing the use in
Rumania of the abundant natural gas supplies for the produc-
tion of various products. Among the chief possibilities
suggested by. Mr. Nicholides was that of manufacturing formalde-
hyde;for industrial uses, a compound which was at the time in
very short supply and presented export possibilities in view
ofthe large demand of the United States plastic industry.
The investigation showed, however, that expected increased
production from existing sources of supply would be likely to
meet in the near future all demands for formaldehyde against
which possible Rumanian production would be at a competitive
disadvantage. The inquiry into this possibility was, there-
fore, dropped.' The same firm also listed and investigated
certain other projects. The services of such firm were term-
inated about December 31, 1946.	 (Exhibit 39.) The investi-
gation on behalf of Mr. Malaxa of possible uses of Rumanian
natural gas, particularly its possible use in the manufacture \
of formaldehyde, has been seized upon by some, greatly magni-
fied in importance and given a sinister purpose. This in-
vestigation has apparently been distorted into a charge that
Mr. Malaxa was endeavoring to build a formaldehyde plant in
Rumania for the Russians.

Ebasco Services Inc.

Thereafter, Mr. Malaxa retaineAbasco Services,  Inc.,
the engineering subsidiary of Electric Bonci-747MTU-C-0., to
make similar investigations; in particular to examine into
possibilities for use in Rumania of natural;gas. Another in-
vestigation conducted by such firm concerned the possible pro-
duction of cellulose from the reeds and rushes in the Danubg
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Delta. Mr. Malaya hoped that a possible use might be found
for the abundant supplies of reeds and rushes and that they
might be turned into a source of wealth to Rumania, particu-
larly as practically all the existing timber exports were
:earmarked for shipment to Russia as reparations payments.
The Ebasco investigation did not, however, produce any spe-
cific projects for further consideration.

Other Projects 

Mt. Malaxa also negotiated for the purchase in the
United States of machinery for the manufacture of steel tubes,
similar to the facilities seized by the Russians, and also for
the purchase of steel pipe for natural gas transmission and • "
distribution. Due to the extreme shortness of supply of
such materials in the United States, Mr. Malaxa was unable to
acquire any such machinery or any pipe for export to Rumania.

Mr. Malaya also negotiated unsuccessfully with
thrysler Cornorption with a view to his establishing a fac-
'eTtY inRumania for the assembly of Chrysler cars and trucks
for resale in Rumania and possibly in other Balkan countries.

Medex Inc.

Shortly after his arrival in the United States,
jta. Malaxa caused to be organized a corporation, known as
vieclex, Inc., under the laws of the State of New York, to en-

foreign trade. This corporation was organized as a
vehicle for handling any Rumanian merchandise which might be-
come available through the issuance of export permits pur-
suant to the authorization of June 6, 1946, mentioned above
under "Collection of Tube Mill Indemnity and Conversion into
Dollars". Substantially the only business done by this cor-
poration was the making of certain contracts with corpora-
tions controlled by Mr. Max Ausnit, as hereinafter mentioned,
with respect to products covered by one export permit actually
obtained and another permit promised but not obtained.

Unfreezing of Mr. Malaya's United States Accounts 

As already noted, Mr. Mala ya had, immediately prior
to the outbreak of the war, sent two of his engineers to the
United States with authority to locate and acquire American
sources of supply for the steel products needed for the opera-
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tion of the Malaxa factories. Approximately $1,300,000 was
deposited at that time in the names of two of Mr. Malaxass
corporations in the Chase National Bank of New York. Upon
the blocking in October, 1940, of all Rumanian assets in the
United States, these bank accounts were "frozen" pursuant to
Executive Order No. 8389, as amended.

In September, 1946, Mr. Bernard Lauren, assuming
to act on behalf of Mr. Malaxa, filed an application for a
Treasury License authorizing certain transfers of the accounts
blocked as aforesaid, and granting to Mr. Malaxa the status
of a generally licensed national. Such application was ap-
proved and two licenses, Nos. NY 807313-A-T and NY 807313-B-T,
were issued. Upon his arrival in the United States, however,
Mr. Malaxa observed that the applications in question con-
tained certain inaccuracies with respect to his corporations
and returned the licenses to the Federal Reserve Bank in New
York, without having used them. Subsequently, through the
law firm of Fehle & Lesser, of Washington, D. C. Mr. Malaxa
again applied foi- a Treasury License unblocking the cash and
securities in the blocked accounts in the Chase National Bank,
and a license to that effect (No. NY 834337-T) was issued
by the Treasury Department on April 28, 1947.	 (Exhibit 40).
The Treasury Department subsequently confirmed to Pehle &
Lesser that the license had been issued because it had been
satisfactorily shown that these bank accounts were benefi-
cially owned by Mr. Malaxa, who, as an individual, was among
the class of persons whose property it was then the policy
of the Treasury to unblock, to wit, a victim of_Nazi political
persecution during the war. (Exhibit

1947 Relief Loan to Rumania

Soon after his arrival in the United States, Mr.
Malaxa participated in negotiations for the granting of an
Immediate loan for the temporary relief of the Rumanian peo-
ple who were suffering heavily as a consequence of two years
of drought in 1945 and 1946 which had exhausted all available
grain supplies in that country. Mr. Malaxa sought to be of
assistance in the negotiation of a loan in order to purchase
United States corn and also the necessary seed for the 1947
crops.	 In this connection Mr. Malaxa consulted Messrs. Pehle
& Lesser in Washington and Mr. Allen Dulles of Sullivan &
Cromwell in New York. The question of the loan also involved
the disposition of a supply of Rumanian gold bullion which had
been blocked in the United States, at least part of which
consisted of gold which at one time had belonged to various

Er"r
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allied countries from whom it had been looted by the Germans
and later turned over by them to Rumania in payment for sup-
plies. Because the Rumanian Legation in the United States
did not have sufficient funds available for the purpose, Mr.
Malaxa paid a retainer of $10,000 to Messrs. Pehle & Lesser for
the account of the Legation.* As a result, in large part,
of Mr. Malaxa l s efforts, the Chase National Bank in early
1947 did make a loan of $12,500,000 to Rumania for the pur-
pose of purchasing feed and foodstuffs in the United States,
which supplies arrived in Rumania in time for the next har-
vest and succeeded in substantially relieving the acute dis-
tress in that country.

End to Mr. Malaxa l s Efforts to Promote Rumanian-American
Mconomic Relations 

In December, 1947, the Communist Government, having
consolidated its position through force and fraud, determined
to proceed without delay to the completion of its plans to
remodel Rumania upon Soviet lines, and felt sufficiently
powerful to sweep away the monarchy, last remnant of previ-
ously independent Rumania to which Mr. Malaxa remained loyal
and owed allegiance. King Mihai, soon after his return from
the Royal wedding in London, was summoned to Bucharest and
bluntly informed that his abdication was in order. Since
the Palace was surrounded by Communist troops, there was noth-
ing that the King could do but accede, and he was shortly,
together with the Queen Mother and the other members of the
royal family, placed on a special train and deported from the
country. Thereafter, the complete Sovietizing of Rumania
into a "People'.s Republic" could proceed without any effective
obstacle.

Mr. Malaxa was then forced to acknowledge that there
was no further possibility for the time beint/of countering
Communist infiltration into Rumania through the fostering of
economic relations between Rumania and the United States, and
the consequent building up the standard of living of the Ru-
manian people. All of Mr. Malaxa l s various proposals, to
which he had devoted much time and effort and considerable ex-
pense, had, in any case, been rejected in toto by the Rumanian
Government.

*'The Rumanian Government has never repaid the amount of
this advance to Mr. Malaxa.
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I. He was handicapped, however, in taking any public
position against the Communist regime in his country because
of the fact that his wife and his son still remained there,
as wall as several of his principal associates in his enter-
prises. He realized that their lives would be increasingly
In danger as the process of Sovietization continued. Through
intermediaries, he asked the Rumanian Government for permis-
sion for his wife and son, and for his associates, to leave
the country, in consideration for his giving up his pl5FM„v, rat."'
Be informed the State Department, through his attanney, Mr.
Thomas K.4Finlettter, of his intentions in this regard (Ex-
hibit 421. No agreement was ever reached.

In April, 1948, Mr. Malaxa t s wife and son escaped
from Rumania, and after several adventures, including hid-
ing for several days without food under a pile of lumber upon
a ship in the harbor at Constanza, they were able to reach
Istanbul, where Mr. Malaxa had arranged for funds to be made
available to them so they could proceed to Switzerland.

The Rumanian Government decided to complete the
process of abolition of capitalism in that country, and, on
June 11, 1948, the Grand National Assembly, without debate,
passed a law providing for the nationalization of all indus-
tries in Rumania. Such indemnities as were provided were to
be paid only from future profits of the industries, the amount
to be set by commission of three carefully selected magis-
trates from whose decision no appeals would be permitted. It
was explicitly provided, however, that no indemnities would
be paid to any persons who had left Rumania clandestinely
and to those Rumanians who failed to return after the expir-
ation of the validity of their travel documents. Mr. Malaxa,
of course, was among those aimed at by this provision.*

Subsequently, on September 30, 1948, the Presidium
of the Rumanian Grand National Assembly decreed that the
Rumanian citizenship of Mr. Malaxa and of his son should be
revoked. (Exhibits 43 and 44.) All property belonging to
Mr. Malaxa and to the other persons named in such decree was
declared confiscated. In usual dictatorship fashion, the
confiscations were preceded by attacks and charges in the
Rumanian Communist press.

A few of Mr. Malaxa t s principal associates have
succeeded in escaping from Rumania. Mr. Malaxa has not beard
from any of the others, and he presumes that they have been
thrown into prison.

* For a summary of the Nationalization Law of Rumania, see
Doman, Postwar Nationalization of Foreign Property in Europe,
48 Columbia law Review 1125, 1154 (1948). The U.S. Department
of State has officially notified the Rumanian Government that
such law does not provide prompt, adequate or effective compen-
sation, and that this Government, ther -efore, would not recog-
nize the validity of seizures of the properties of U.S. na-
tionals thereunder. (N.Y. Times, March 18, 1949)



Establishment of United States Business

After Mr. Malaxa became convinced of the futility
of further efforts to promote Rumanian-American business
endeavors, he turned his attention to establishing or becom-
inga participant in a United States business enterprise.
While he has made considerable investigation concerning manu-
facturing possibilities and concerning particular business
enterprises which might be purchased in whole or in part,
because of the uncertainty in his status created by the ex-
piration of his visitor's visa, and the campaign of mis-
statements which have been made against him, Mr. Malaxa has
felt unable to make any definite commitments to date. He
desires, of course, to invest in, and to assume all or a part
of the management of an enterprise in which his abilities
and skill as an engineer and as an industrialist could be
utilized. He feels that if he can place his undivided at-
tention upon the creation and in the building up of an in-
dustrial operation, he will be able thereby not only to con-
tribute to the welfare of the United States through increas-
ing industrial production, but also to be in a position to
help in the struggle against Communist tyranny by assisting
financially or otherwise the victims thereof.

Mr. Malaxa has also investigated the possibilities
of making investments in iron and steel works and related
industries in various parts of Latin America, but up to the
present, due in part to the uncertainties of the situatio0
in those countries, he has not committed any of his funds
there.

■;,
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V. GENERAL

Present Status in the United States 

Mr. Malaxa entered the United States at New York,
: N. Y., an September 29, 1946, on a non-immigration visa
' No. 670 issued on August 7, 1946, by a U. S. Vice Consul in
Paris, France. Mr, Malaxa was in possession of Rumanian
Passport No. 023526 issued to him April 15, 1946, expiring
on 4pri1 15, 1948. He secured various extensions of his stay
in the United States until August 15, 1948. Application for
further extension of his temporary stay was denied July 30,
1948, by the District Director of the New York office of the
Immigration and Naturalization Service.

On June 21, 1948, application was made on behalf of
Mr. Vale= by Mr. Thurman 4rno1d and Mr. Thomas B. Shoemaker
to the Attorney General for consideration under the bills
relating to the admission of displaced persona into the United
States for permanent residence. (Exhibit 45) Early in August,
1946, identical bills were introduced ih both Houses of Congress
by Senator Baldwin and Representative John Davis Lodge (S. 2942
and H. R. 7160, respectively, 80th Cong., 2d Seas.) authorizing
and directing the Attorney General to record the lawful admis-
sion for permanent residence of Mr. Malaxa as of September 29,
1946. (Exhibits 46 and 47)

In September, 1948, Mr. Nalaxa filed with the
Department of Justice, Immigration and Naturalization Service,
an application on the form provided for applications by die- •
placed persons residing in the United States to adjust their
immigration status. Action on such application is pending.

Political Activities and Affiliations 

Mr. Malaxa was not a politician and has at no time
taken any active part in politics. He was, however, over a ■_,
period of many years a substantial financial contributor to . )
the National Peasant Party and at times, and to a lesser
extent, to the National Liberal Party. Since the war, Mr. Malax
as given his full support to General Redescu and at the prese t
time is assisting the Rumanian group headed by General Radesc
At all times Mr. Malaxa was a supporter of the Royal Family ad
as consulted by the King particularly on matters relating to
he development of Rumanian industry. Gossips have frequently,
mplied that Mr. Nalaxa had some special standing or relatio

.);
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ship with the King or the Royal Family. He does not believe
that he had .any special standing, relationship or recognition
beyond that of a loyal subject who was also an active indus-
trialist engaged in the managment and operation of large
plants which constituted a substantial part of the Rumanian
industrial economy.

Mr. Malaxa not only supported the National Peasant
Party by making substantial financial contributions, but gave
his personal support to the leader of the Party, Dr. Juliu
Maniu,* a friend whom Mr. Malaza greatly admired. This personal.'
relationship was implemeaRipliyy,the fact that Dr. Maniu f s	 -
nephew, Mr. apnel iPoo.,°wa-s-Mt.-Malaza l s closest business
associate and generally considered as Dr. Maniu f s successor
as the head of the party. Mr. Malaxa was also a close friend
of Mr. Ion Mihalache, the Vice-Chairman of the National
Peasant Party. Both Dr. Maniu and Mr. Mihalache were recently
condemned to life imprisonment by a special Rumanian court on
charges of collaboration with the Western Allies.

During the German occupation it was charged that
Dr. Maniu and the National Peasant Party had received financial
backing from the Allies and an "investigation" was ordered
by Antonescu. In order to avoid difficulties in respect of any
unaccounted for funds in the possession of the National Peasant
Party, it was arranged between Dr. Maniu and Mr. Malaxa that
Mr. Malaxa would accept responsibility for all contributions
to the National Peasant Party for which the Party did not have

*Reuben H. Markham, for many years the Balkan correspondent
of the Christian Science Monitor, in "Rumania Under the Soviet
Yoke" (1949) describes Dr. Maniu as "one_ofthe noblest demo-
cratic leaders of this generation". Markham states (pp. 78 et

"Far more influential during the decades, of
the 1930 f s and 1940 f s than the old Liberal ,Party
was the National-Peasant Party, under the leader-;
ship of Juliu Maniu and Ion Mihalache. *** though
suppressed, [it) is still the principal,democratic
force in the face of foreign and native despotism.

"The name and activity of Maniu became synonym4s.
with the Rumanian struggle for social advancement and
nationality rights. ***7

* *
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other records. As a result, the Antonescu government was
unable to create the intended pretext for action against
Dr. Maniu and the National Peasant Party.

Another example of the position taken by Mr. Malaxa
In regard to political affairs, and particularly with respect
to pressure for Rumanian-German collaboration in the late
1930 1 s, is illustrated by the following events: In March,
1939, a German economic mission went to Bucharest and pre-
sented several secret demands to the Rumanian Government,
the effect of which would have been to make Rumania subser-
vient, in economic affairs, to Germany. Upon learning of
these demands, Mr. Malaxa protested and was invited to express
his views at a special meeting of certain of the cabinet
'ministers called for that purpose and presided over by the
King. At that meeting he vigorously opposed the proposals,
but in view of a subsequent ultimatum delivered to the Rumanian
Government by the German representative, he decided, notwith-
standing the personal risk to himself, to communicate the
proposals to the British Government, which was promptly done
through the Rumanian Minister in London. The German demands
were permitted to "leak" into the newspapers, and the ensuing
publicity is believed to have been a contributing factor in
causing the Chamberlain government to abandon its appeasement
policy. (Exhibit 48.)

Soon after the armistice, General Radescu became
head of the Rumanian Government and continued in that posi-
tion until he was forced out of office by Wshinski. During

	

„IA	 General Radescu l s term in office, and subsequently, he has
• had the closest support and assistance from Ni'. Malaxa, includ-

	

CLe	 Aing assistance in connection with his escape from Rumania and
financial aid since that time. A copy of an affidavit of
General Radescu is annexed hereto as Exhibit 49. Mr. Malaxa

	

e"	 believes that an organized Remenian group outside of Rumania
is important for the future of that country and has supported
General Radescu in his organization of the "National Committee
of Rumanians" under his leadership. In this connection Mr.
Malaxa is working in association with Mr. GrigoreGafencu,

; an outstanding author, Rumanian diplomat and former Foreign
L.-Minister. Mr. Malaxa understands that the United States

Government has not objected to the formation of that committee,
but the formation of such committee was opposed by a number

ie 2of Rumanians presently in the United States who energetically
,.,.frsought to thwart its organization by any means available,

J-eVV, including personal attacks upon Mr. Malaxa as its financial
-1;4 . 1 supporter.

-	 '
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Max Ausnit and Walter Winchell.

In Rumania the rivalry between Mr. Malaxa and
Mr. Ausnit was well known and by some has been characterized
as a 'feud". They were the dominant figures in the Rumanian
steel industry and their respective companies flourished. By
Ausnit, at least, that "feud" has been carried to the United
States and intensified, for reasons hereinafter mentioned, as
typified by an article, believed to have been inspired and
instigated by Ausnit, published by Walter Winchell on Febru-
ary 26, 1948. Except that that article is absurd on its face,
it contains falsehoods exceeded in grossness only by the malice
which inspired them. Mr. Malaxa has declined to resort to
rebuttals in kind.* The differences between Mr. Malaxa and
Mr. Ausnit are wholly irrevelant for the purposes of this
memorandum. However, it is necessary to state them herein,
and to set forth their background and the sequence of rela-
tive events, in order to show the source and purpose of the
campaign against Mr. Malaxa which is typified by the scandalous
attack published in the column of Walter Winchell. The "feud"
divides itself into three phases: (1) The difficulties in
Resita, of which Mr. Ausnit was the active managing director
until shortly before his conviction and imprisonment in 1939-40
for, among other things, embezzlement and larceny of the funds
of Resita during the period 1931-39 (a consequence for which
Mr. Ausnit apparently endeavors to blame Mr. Malaxa), (2) the
refusal of Mr. Malaxa to participate in American-Roumanian

* Shortly before their departure for the United States,
Mr. Malaxa and Mr. Ausnit were separately talked to by
Mr. Emil Kekich, the U. S. Commercial Attache in Bucharest,
regarding their visit to the United States and their pro-
posed endeavors to bring about American-Rumanian economic
collaboration. Mr. Kekich specifically urged Mr. Malaxa and
Mr. Ausnit, when in the 'United States, carefully to guard
against any possible revival of their differences, and in
particular Mr. Kekich advised against any public utterances,
direct or indirect, of one against the other. Mr. Kekich
explained that any such disagreement between the members of
the mission, being the two leading industrialists of Rumania,
would greatly prejudice the success of the mission and adversely
affect possible future economic relations between Rumania and
the United States. Mr. Kekich has confirmed such conversations
to counsel for Mr. Malaxa.
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11\ Irating-arid-Delraro-p-inerir "O"OFp'cii.at ion, a Ubit4141-41-0411T4anal,
II911. 0=1;a4aa by Mr. Ausnit after his arrival in this country
to promote_Rumnlan=Ameriu1a-trade, and (3) Rumanian political

. \rivalry. As noted above, Mr. Malaxa is a supporter of 4AntLIII___
i 4Radescu who has become the leader of the committee recently 	 • -

formed to represent Rumanians outside of Rumania. Mt. Ausnit
has opposed General Radescu and the formation of a committee
to be headed by General Radescu.

1
\Difficulties in Resita

In 1932 or thereabouts, Mr. Malaxa and Mr. Ausnit
joined in the purchase of approximately 20% of the outstanding
stock of Resita, the principal Rumanian iron and steel manu-
facturing concern. Such stock was acquired from STEG, an
Austrian corporation, and constituted the largest single hold-
ing of Resita stock. (See above under "Other Business Inter-
ests") Both Mr. Malaxa and Mr. usnit were elected adminis-
trateur del4gues of Resita, although the actual 'management of
Resita was conducted by Mr. Ausnit. In 1936, the Resita
shares acquired from STEG by Mr. Malaxa and Mr. Ausnit were
transferred to a Monacan company known as "Centrind", formed
for the purpose. The shares of Centrind were in turn deposited
with a bank in London under an agreement between Mr. Malaxa
and Mr. Ausnit providing, in substance, that their respective
Resita shares should be held together and voted as a unit,
so that neither party could dispose of his shares without the
consent of the other. By a Rumanian law of November 8, 1939,
such holding and voting arrangements for shares of armament
manufacture corporations became illegal, and Mr. Malaxa, as
required by such law, applied for and received duplicate cer-
tificates fn., his Resita shares registered in the name of
Centrind.	

4'0

During the summer of 1939 , ihe newly appointed chair-
man of the board of Resita,MarshaV rdareanu, who was Palace
Minister, discovered irregularities 	 lagement of Resita.
As a result, charges were brought against Mr. Ausnit and he was
tried before the Rumanian courts for embezzlement, aiding and
abetting forgery, and exporting currency out of the country
in violation of regulations. Most of the charges concerned
transactions between Resita (effected by Mr. Ausnit as Admin-
istrateur Delêguê) and corporations owned or controlled by
Mr. Ausnit, which made unlawful profits at the expense of
Resita. He was convicted and sentenced to six years imprison-
ment, four years loss of civil rights and ordered to make
restitution to Resita of a sum of about $2,000 0 000. The decision
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of the lower court (Penal Decision #971, March 14, 1940) was
appealed to and affirmed by the Rumanian Court of Appeal (Penal
Decision #1291/940, May 8, 1940). The decision of the Rumanian
Court of Appeal is extremely long and detailed, reviewing the
evidence and the defenses urged at the trial and on appeal.
Apparently the case was defended to a large extent by allega-
tions that Mr. Ausnit's acts had in effect been ratified by
other directors or shareholders of Resits by reason of actual
or constructive knowledge of the acts complained of or approval_
of balance sheets which gave effect to the challenged trans-
actions. The court dismissed all such defenses, stating in
substance that whether or not the acts were known to other
directors or approved by them or by shareholders did not affect
the criminality of the acts or excuse them under the penal
laws. The division of the Court of Appeal hearing the appeal
was composed of three judges, each of whom had long been a
judge of the Rumanian courts. The trial, conviction, appeal
and affirmance occurred months before Antonescu and the Nazi
came to power in Rumania (September 6, 1940) and during the
time that Rumania was allied with England and France.

Since coming to the United States, Mr. Ausnit has
made statements to the effect that his conviction for miscon-
duct as administrateur delegue of Resita constituted political
prosecution and he has also intimated that Mr. Malexa was
responsible for his indictment and conviction. The courts'
opinions in the action are clear and explicit and there is
no suggestion that the prosecution was political in character
or in any way motivated by Mr. Malaxa, nor was it defended on
either such ground.

While in prison in Rumania, Mr. Ausnit caused to be
commenced in London an action against Mr. Malaxa for breach
of the London agreement calling for joint action with respect
to their Resita shares. That action, however, was never pros-
ecuted but the claims of breach of contract have been revived
in subsequent litigation in the United States as noted below.

After Antonescu came to power in Rumania, Mr. Ausnit
was released from prison and in 1942 obtained a "right to
review" of his trial. The arrangements that were made between
Mr. Ausnit and the Antonescu government were that a "right to
review" would be granted in consideration of Mr. Ausnit's
turning over to the government 51% of the shares of his
manufacturing corporations in Rumania. A small portion of
such shares were deposited with the Rumanian Ministry •



50

of Finance for this purpose. Mr. Ausnit its attorney in the
earlier criminal proceedings, Mr. MiroesIDIggara, was
appointed Chairman of the Resita BaYa of Directors, which
he managed Jointly with Albert Goering. However, when Mr.
Ausnit's trial was reviewed pursuant to the above-mentioned
arrangements, the court upheld the conviction notwithstanding
the government's pressure for acquittal. Then a controversy
arose between Ausnit and the Antonescu government as to the
fulfillment of undertakings pursuant to such arrangements,
and Mr. Ausnit was sent to a concentration camp. He was
later freed and some months thereafter he went to Egypt on
a Rumanian military plane. Mr. Ausnit returned to Rumania
in 1944 after the Armistice, and pursuant to directions from
the new communist Minister of Justice Patrascanu, an order
of acquittal was entered in favor of Ar. Ausnit and the
management of Resita was again restored to him. He also made
an official demand for the return of the shares deposited
with the Antonescu government as mentioned above. At aboutl
the same time Mr. Audnit became president of one of the
ARLUS sections (Rumanian Association for Rumanian Soviet I
Development).

None of Mr. Ausnit's properties were taken either
1\5tP 	 by the Nazis or by the Communists until the recent general

IP	confiscations, and he was probably the only important indus-
trialist in Rumania who managed to retain his properties-Y:Py ,*ntact during both regimes.

r.
Several important political leaders in Rumania, who,coe

1 ere opposed to the "democratic front" government of Premier
r.1°) roza which was then in power, notably Dr. Naniu and General

adescu, fearful of adverse effects on the rehabilitation of
Rumania from the continuance of the "feud" between Ni'. Nalaxa
and Mr. Ausnit, advised Mr. Malaxa to "settle" all differences
with Mr. Ausnit. Discussions took place between them without
eaching any result.

American-Roumanian Trading and Development Corporation 

Shortly after his arrival in the United States,
Mr. Ausnit proposed, early in 1947, the organization of a U.S.
corporation to foster trade with Rumania. (Exhibit 50) He
proposed that the corporation be capitalized at $1,000,000
of which $350,000 would be subscribed by Mr. Malaxa, the same 	 1
amount by himself and the balance by American corporations

. interested in Rumanian trade. Mr. Ausnit also proposed that 	 1
the Rumanian Government would make available to the new cor-
poration approximately $50,000,000 of gold 'bullion, which the
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corporation could use as security for loans from U. S. banks
to provide additional working capital. Mr. Ausnit made repeated
efforts to induce Mr. Malaxa to participate in this venture,
representing that if it were handled properly enormous profits
would accrue to the participants, and referring to the proposed
corporation as a "gold mine". Mr. Malaxa refused to partici-
pate, on the ground, among others, that he regarded it improper 	 „,...
for private individuals to use as capital government funds for

' their private benefit. After several months 6f unsuccessful
efforts to induce Mr. Malaxa to participate with him, Mr. Ausni,t ;) ly

	

4,	 Offormed his corporation, without Mr. Malaxa's participation,	 Pil.t in March, 1947. During the first six months after the arrivalA, , . 4,I;
of Mr. Malaxa and Mr. Ausnit in the United States the "feud"
between them remained dormant and apparently had been leftt, To e:

, behind in Rumania. Apparently, from Mr. Ausnit's standpoint,
,• Mr. Malaxa was a desired and sought after business associate. v1.1, 
' However, soon after Mr. Malaxa's final refusal to participate	 01Ps"( •

with Mr. Ausnit in his trading corporation, the "feud" was 	 ..(0r,
u revived by Mr. Ausnit by personal attacks, the commencement
of litigation and the filing of scandalous affidavits.

Ausnit Litigation 

In June, 1947, Mr. Ausnit commenced an action against
Mr. Malaxa in the courts of New York obtaining a warrant of
attachment and an order for taking of Mr. Malaxa's testimony
before filing of a complaint. In his affidavit in support of
that unusual order, Mr. Ausnit stated that Mr. Malaxa was about
to leave the United States and that extraordinary relief was
therefore necessary. A complaint in that action was never
actually filed, but contracts were entered into under date of
July 7, 1947, providing for the settlement of the pending ac-
tion and also providing for the sale by Mr. Malaxa to Mr.
Ausnit, through corporations controlled by them respectively,
of certain lumber and steel tubes exported or to be exported
from Rumania under export licenses obtained or to be obtained.
The lumber to be sold pursuant to such agreement was delivered,
but the steel tubes were not delivered as a Rumanian export
license therefor could not be obtained. In March, 1948, Mr.
kusnit commenced a further suit against Mr. Malaxa claiming
damages for failure to deliver steel tubes pursuant to the
above-mentioned contract. Mr. Malaxa also commenced a suit
against Mr. Ausnit based on failure fully to pay for the lumber
delivered pursuant to the contract. Both actions are presently
pending in the Supreme Court of New York, examinations before
trial of both Mr. Malaxa and Mr. Ausnit being in progress.
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Winchell

Winchell's article (Exhibit 51) is entitled
"A Balkanazi on Broadway". It is clearly intended as a sensa-
tional "smear" and, although obviously false to anyone having
any knowledge of the facts, it has achieved its objective of
creating suspicion and doubt and, in the minds of many, tra-
ducing the name of Malaxa. In the light of the facts set
forth in this memorandum, the Winehell canards are :shocking
indeed. For example, and among the more glaring of his misstate'
ments, Winchell states that Mr. Malaxa "demanded the nazifica- —
tion of the steel industry" and "offered to sell the Nazis his
factories". The facts are exactly the opposite. Again, Winchell
says that upon the liberation of Rumania, Mr. Malaxa "at once
offered his services to Moscow" and "received the complete con-
fidence of the Communists". Whoever received the "complete
confidence of the Communists", it was obviously not Mr. Malaxa.
In addition to gross falsehoods, Winchell resorts to snide
innuendoes, as for example he writes: "Malaxa succeeded in
freeing a million and a half bucks in an N. Y. bank, a real
feat. *** In. any event, Sullivan & Cromwell, the firm of John
Foster Dulles, withdrew as his attorneys months ago, as did
distinguished Washington counsel." The issue of a treasury
license under the freezing order in conformity therewith is
hardly a "feat", but Winchell intends sinister implications.
The reference to attorneys and the innuendoes created are
particularly vicious. Sullivan & Cromwell did represent Mr.
Malaxa in one matter, but they did not withdraw and the impli-
cations intended by Winchell are wholly unfounded. Mr. Allen
Dulles of that firm was the partner in charge of that matter
and will gladly confirm to anyone having a proper interest the
facts with respect thereto stated herein. The "distinguished
Washington counsel" whom it is alleged "withdrew" are unknown
to Mr. Malaxa.

The Winchell attack is regrettable, but it. yerves no
useful purpose to repeat his assertions in detail, simply to
deny them or correct them. The facts speak for themselves and
are fully set forth in their appropriate places in this memo-
randum.

The Malaxa Prizes 

Mr. Malaxa, before the war, was very anxious to
create certain prizes, modeled upon the Nobel Prizes, to reward
outstanding research and accomplishments in the fields of
Philosophy, Pure Mathematics, and Applied Science which were
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not covered by the Nobel awards. As a start in his plans for
the creation of such awards, Mr. Malaxa, in 1958, set aside
funds for the award of the "Malaxa prizes" to be awarded by
the Sorbonne for work in the solution of differential and
integral equations. A jury of award, including two outstanding
French mathematicians, Messrs. Levi-Civita and Villat was
appointed, and in 1940, the prize, in a substantial amount,
which it was hoped would be the first of a long series, was
awarded to Professors Leray and Schauder on account of their
outstanding mathematical work. (Ekhibit 52)

The war interrupted Mr. Malaxa l s plans and, as a
consequence of the confiscation of his plants and of his
fortune by the Communist Government in Rumania, he has been
unable to revive them.


